

22





May 1989

Original: ENGLISH

MEDITERRANEAN ACTION PLAN

Joint Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Committee and the Socio-Economic Committee

Athens, 26-30 June 1989

Progress report on the implementation of the Mediterranean Action Plan during 1988/1989

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION

A. Activities

- 1. Programme approval through decision-making meetings
- 2. Programme co-ordination
- 3. Legal component
- 4. Implementation of the LBS Protocol and Dumping Protocol
- 5. Monitoring of marine pollution in the Mediterranean
- 6. Prevention and combating pollution from ships
 - a) Protocol on emergencies
 - b) Port reception facilities
- 7. Protection of the common Mediterranean heritage
 - a) Protocol on Specially Protected Areas
 - b) 100 historic sites
- 8. Environmentally sound management of the

Mediterranean coastal zone

- a) Data base on Mediterranean environment and development
- b) Coastal planning and management
- c) Coastal zones pilot projects
- 9. Public information

B. Financial matters

Annexes:

Annex I : Calendar of meetings as at 31 May 1989

Annex II: List of documents produced during 1988-1989

Annex III: Status of signatures and ratifications of the Convention and its related protocols as at 31

December 1988

Annex IV: Status of contributions to the Mediterranean Trust Fund (MTF) as at 30 April 1989

Annex V: 1988 budget (approved/expenditure) to be distributed at the meeting

Introduction

The present progress report describes in summary activities that were carried out since the last meetings of the Scientific and Technical Committeed (May 1988) and the Socio-Economic Committee (September 1988).

Comments and factual corrections on the progress report should be transmitted to the Secretariat at the beginning of the meeting, but no general debate is scheduled to take place on it. The debate should concentrate, instead, on the programme proposals and recommendations contained in document UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/3.

A. Activities

1. <u>Programme approval through decision-making meetings</u>

- 1) As decided by the Fifth Ordinary Meeting of the Contracting Parties, the Sixth Ordinary Meeting will be held in Athens, Greece, from 3-6 October 1989. Preparation of documentation for the meeting as well as other arrangements i.e. conference facilities, hotel accommodation, etc., has already started. An advance letter will be sent shortly to all Contracting Parties, informing them of these arrangements in order to assist them in their early preparation for the Meeting.
- 2) The Bureau of the Contracting Parties met in Athens on 31 October 1988 (UNEP/BUR/32). The Bureau reviewed the progress achieved since the Fifth Ordinary Meeting of the Contracting parties. Furthermore, the Bureau reviewed preparation of the meeting of the Expanded Bureau. The meeting was chaired by H.E. Mr. E. Kouloumbis, Minister for the Environment, Physical Planning and Public Works of Greece. Mr. W. Mansfield, Deputy Executive Director of UNEP attended the meeting.
- 3) The Expanded Bureau was convened in Athens on 1-2 November 1988 (UNEP/BUR/33/6). The objectives of the meeting were to decide on the apportionment of the 1989 budget for MAP, to determine guidelines for the re-focusing of MAP and to consider how to facilitate the renewal of the Bureau. The meeting was chaired by H.E. Mr. E. Kouloumbis, Minister of the Environment, Physical Planning and Public Works of Greece. Mr. W. Mansfield, Deputy Executive Director of UNEP attended the meeting.
- 4) As concerns the issue of Refocusing of MAP, the Expanded Bureau (Athens, 1-2 November 1988) reviewed document UNEP/BUR/33/4 concerning "Preliminary ideas of the Executive Director on the Refocusing of the Mediterranean Action Plan on environmentally sound integrated planning and managment of the Mediterranean basin". All the participatns made comments during the discussion of the document and the Bureau decided that further comments should be communicated to the Secretariat within two months supplementing those made during the debate.

As at 1 May 1989, the Secretariat had received only six written comments (EEC, Israel, France, Libya, Malta and Yugoslavia). On the basis of these written comments and those made during the debate on this issue at the Expanded Bureau, the Secretariat prepared a new version of the Executive Director's document (UNEP/BUR/34/4) for the consideration of the Bureau at its March 1989 meeting. The Bureau decided to request the

secretariat to prepare a further revised version of document UNEP/BUR/34/4 in the light of comments made in the course of the debate and of written comments communicated by Governments with a view to the submission of the definitive text to the Contracting Parties at their October 1989 meeting.

5) A meeting of Directors of Regional Activity Centres (ROCC,BP,PAP,SPA) was convened in Athens on 20-21 February 1989 with a view to co-ordinate activities and agree on future programmes. The meeting reviewed a draft document prepared by the secretariat on the presentation of the 1990-1991 programme budget by objectives as requested by the Expanded Bureau, as well as the revised version of the Executive Director's paper on re-focusing of MAP. The meeting decided to convene a regular meeting of all Directors every year.

6) The first meeting of the Bureau of the Contracting Parties in 1989 was convened in Athens on 14-15 March (UNEP/BUR/34/7). It reviewed progress achieved since its last meeting, reviewed the revised paper on refocussing of MAP and decided that the secretariat should revise it on the basis of comments made and to submit it to the next Ordinary Meeting of the Contracting Parties (October 89). The meeting also reviewed the 1990-1991 programme budget by objectives proposed by the secretariat.

The meeting was chaired by H.E. Mr. George Ktenas, Alternate Minister for the Environment, Greece.

- As regards document UNEP/BUR/34/5 "Integrated planning of the Development and Management of the Resources of the Mediterranean Basin" (MAP Pilot Projects), the Bureau reviewed the document and requested the secretariat to revise it on the basis of comments made and to submit it to the joint meeting of the two committees. The new version of this document is contained in UNEP(OCA)/MED/WG.3/Inf.8. The Bureau also decided that the two Committees (Scientific and Technical and Socio-Economic) should meet in a joint session from 26 to 30 June 1989 in Athens.
- 8) The calendar of meetings organized in the framework of MAP during 1989 as at 31 May 1989 is contained in Annex I to this report.

2. Programme Co-ordination

- The Co-ordinating Unit continued to play its co-ordinating, catalytic and stimulating role as the overall technical co-ordinator of the Action Plan, the convention and its related protocols. Intensive contacts were undertaken with a view to strengthen co-operation and avoid unnecessary overlapping and duplication of efforts with financial institutions, intergovernmental organizations, non-governmental organizations and sub-regional agreements.
- 2) Contacts continued with the World Bank with a view to identify areas of common interest and determine a procedure for regular consultation whereby the Bank's assistance may take into account the work already done or being done in MAP in order to support it. During a consultation meeting between the Bank and UNEP (Nairobi, 9 December 1988), UNEP proposed a Memorandum of Understanding to be signed by UNEP and the Bank recognizing the mutual and complementary interest of the two organizations in the protection and development of the Mediterranean basin.

In this connection, a meeting of the Resident Representatives of UNDP was convened in Malta, 27-30 March 1989 by the Bureau for Arab States and Europe, UNDP. It was prompted by the World Bank initiatives in the Mediterranean, its country mission and environmental report on Tunisia, and contacts with UNDP Headquarters aiming at developing a joint new technical assistance programme for environment in the Mediterranean (METAP). The Co-ordinator of MAP attended this meeting and briefed the participants on UNEP/MAP views. He requested clarification on whether funds would be available for activities decided by the Contracting Parties or for those decided by the Bank; whether they could be used for region-wide projects or selectively for specific countries.

- 3) The regular yearly meeting of the Inter-Agency Advisory Committee (IAAC) was convened in Athens (January 89) with a view to strengthen and co-ordinate activities on MED POL with UN Agencies during this period of refocusing of MAP, which would require adjustments within MED POL, in order to strengthen the Secretariat's capability for coastal zone management and to reflect the changing needs and experience accumulated since the start of phase II in 1981.
- 4) Contacts and co-operation with national authorities were strengthened through the national focal points and through country missions.
- 5) The staff of the Co-ordinating Unit participated in various national and international meetings with a view to represent MAP and its activities and to strengthen co-operation with other interested bodies.
- 6) Pursuant to the decisions of the Fifth Ordinary Meeting of the Contracting Parties (Athens, September 1987), a consultant, Mr. Scicluna (Malta) was requested to prepare a paper on the contribution of international organizations to the objectives of the Mediterranean Action Plan with the objective of preparing a list of regional and multi-national projects in the framework of MAP which require support. The draft paper was sent to UN Organizations for their final comments before submitting the paper to the next meeting of the Contracting Parties (October 1989).
- 7) Tunisia has established a new Agency for environmental protection by law No. 91 of 2 August 1988 (Agence National de protection de l'Environnement). Mr. Noureddine Kamoun was designated as President Director General of the Agency.
- 8) Israel has established a Ministry for the Environment. Mr. Roni Milo was appointed Minister of the Environment.
- 9) The European Community has issued the fifth report on how the member countries of the Community are putting the directive on bathing waters into effect and how far the designated beaches meet the standards which are laid down. In an effort to inform other Contracting Parties of the Barcelona Convention of the EEC activities, the report was distributed in February 1989.
- 10) A meeting of Non-Governmental Organizations has been tentatively included in the MAP workplan, subject to availability of funds. In this connexion a study on the Mediterranean Non-Governmental organizations is being undertaken by the University of Aix-en-Provence. It is co-financed by the French Government through the Ministry of Environment, the Friedrich Naumann Foundation and MAP. A contribution from the Council of Europe is also expected.

3. <u>Legal component</u>

Offshore Protocol

- 1) In accordance with the decision of the Fourth Ordinary Meeting of the Contracting Parties (Genoa, September 1985) and in implementation of the provisions of article 7 of the Convention for the protection of the Mediterranean sea against pollution, a draft protocol for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea against Pollution resulting from Exploration and Exploitation of the Continental Shelf and the Sea-bed and its subsoil has been prepared by the International Juridical Organization (IJO) and was reviewed by a technical consultation meeting (Athens, 1986). The Contracting Parties were requested to send their comments on the draft protocol.
- 2) A reminder was sent to all Contracting Parties on 15 November 1988, requesting their comments on the draft offshore protocol. Written comments received from France, Italy, Spain, Malta, Egypt, Israel and from E & P Forum were sent to the International Juridical Organization for consideration. It is now proposed to convene a Working Group of government-nominated experts in September 1989 to review the new version of the draft with a view to convene a Conference of Plenipotentiaries in Athens during 1990 to consider, approve and sign the draft protocol.

4. <u>Implementation of the Land-Based Sources (LBS) Protocol and Dumping</u> Protocol

1) <u>Implementation of LBS and Dumping protocols</u>

On 28 June 1988 Cyprus deposited its instrument of accession to the Protocol for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea against Pollution from land-based sources bringing to twelve the total number of Contracting Parties who had ratified, acceded or approved the Protocol.

Information was received from a number of Contracting Parties on their existing national legislation related to the requirements of the LBS Protocol.

No information was received from Contracting Parties on new regulations related to the enforcement of Environmental Quality Criteria or Emission Standards adopted.

Assistance is still offered by the secretariat to Contracting Parties who may need it, towards the application of the Environmental Quality Criteria or Emission Standards recently adopted.

As to the Protocol for the Prevention of Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by Dumping from Ships and Aircraft, since the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Committee (Athens, 23-27 May 1988) the secretariat received no information on the designation of "competent authorities" from Contracting Parties.

Since the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Committee the secretariat received no information from Contracting Parties on experts and institutions capable of providing technical assistance on matters of dumping of wastes at sea and on alternative methods for waste disposal.

During 1988 the secretariat received annual reports for 1987 on dumping activities from France, Israel and Italy and "nil reports" from Malta.

During 1989 the secretariat received from Israel the annual report on dumping activities for the year 1988.

2) Implementation of LBS workplan activities

The final draft version of the questionnaires on liquid domestic discharges, industrial pollutants, and petroleum hydrocarbons were completed and submitted to national MED POL coordinators for comments. The final version was prepared on the basis of comments received, and will be submitted to national coordinators in June 1989.

The pilot project on monitoring of selected submarine outfall structures in the Mediterranean was completed and the results will be evaluated by a small expert group meeting in Madrid in July 1989, which will also review requirements for the preparation of guidelines in terms of Article 7.1.(a) of the protocol.

The draft guidelines for authorizations for the discharge of liquid wastes into the Mediterranean sea, in terms of Article 6 of the protocol, were comprehensively revised, and the current version will be reviewed by an expert consultation meeting in Alexandria in November 1989.

Preparatory work commenced on the first draft of the guidelines on effluents requiring separate treatment, which will also be reviewed by the Alexandria meeting in November 1989 as well as on the compilation of the necessary material regarding the use of alternative products and processes.

Following the receipt of additional material from a number of Mediterranean countries, preparation of the revised version of the 1976 WHO/UNEP document on national legislation on the prevention and control of marine pollution from land-based sources commenced in January 1989, and is scheduled for completion towards the end of the year.

A detailed outline of the Annex IV to the LBS Protocol aiming at defining conditions under which the Protocol could be applied to harmful substances transported to the Mediterranean Sea Area through the atmosphere, was prepared during an <u>ad hoc</u> meeting in Athens, in December 1988 (Doc. UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.6/1), and sent for comments to the National Co-ordinators. The first draft of Annex IV will be prepared by a consultant by the end of September 1989 and the second draft will be presented to Contracting Parties in 1990.

3) Pilot monitoring surveys

Pilot survey on organotin compounds

A pilot survey on organotin in selected Mediterranean areas was undertaken during 1988 in order to generate data on levels of tributyltin (TBT) and its derivatives in the region. Before initiating the exercise a small workshop on the methodology and intercalibration for organotin compounds determination, attended by the principal investigators of the survey, took place in Monaco from 18 to 20 April 1988.

The survey covered 17 locations from the French Mediterranean coast, the Northern Tyrrhenian coast, the Southern coast of Turkey and the Alexandria coastal area. 113 water samples and 35 sediment samples were analysed. The range of concentrations found are comparable to those known to be present in similar situations outside the Mediterranean area. A full report on this survey, prepared by the principal investigators who met in Erdemli, Turkey, (7-9 November 1988), appears in document FIR/MEDPOL/OT/5.

The survey has shown conclusively that there are high concentrations of TBT in the vicinity of harbours and marinas and in fact its results have reinforced the need for regulatory action.

Pilot survey on organophosphorus compounds

A pilot survey on selected organophosphorus pesticide and non-pesticide compounds in selected Mediterranean areas, the Ebro and Llobregat estuaries (Spain), the river Po mouth and Northern Adriatic coast (Italy), the Haifa Bay and the Lake Kinneret watershed (Israel) and Rosetta Nile mouth and Edffina (Egypt), was undertaken during 1988. A small workshop, attended by the principal investigators of the survey, took place in Monaco from 13 to 15 April 1988, on methodology and intercalibration for organophosphorus determination.

The survey revealed for the first time the presence of Tris-2-chloro-ethylphosphate (TCEP) in Spanish rivers and levels up to $0.3~\mu g~t^1$ indicate its use in the monitored area. Also Tris-chloro-isoprophylphosphate (TCPP) has been detected for the first time in Italian surface waters reaching values similar to the other organophosphorus non-pesticide compounds. Organophosphorus pesticides were found in fish but not in mussels from Spain and Italy. A full report on this survey prepared by the principal investigators who met in Barcelona (24-26 January 1989), appears in document FIR/MEDPOL/OP/5.

The results of the survey will be taken into consideration when finalizing the assessment document on organophosphorus compounds.

Pilot survey on persistent synthetic materials

Observations are being carried out since May 1988 of persistent synthetic materials and litter on several separate beach areas and pelagic zones in five Mediterranean countries, using the methods agreed upon at the <u>ad hoc</u> expert consultation (Athens, 16-18 October 1987). Data are regularly reported and two experts have been invited to prepare overviews for beach areas and pelagic zones, respectively. An expert consultation with the participating institutions is being organized in June 1989 to review the progress and prepare the initial overview report of the pilot project.

Pilot survey on carcinogenic/mutagenic compounds

Following the recommendations of the expert consultation meeting on carcinogenic and mutagenic marine pollutants in the Mediterranean, held in Athens from 23 to 25 June 1988 (EUR/ICP/CEH 060(5)), preparations were completed for a pilot survey of levels of the more important substances in selected areas of the Mediterranean. The survey will commence in early July 1989.

4) Pollution assessment documents and Environmental Quality Criteria

Used lubricating oils

Following the submission of simplified questionnaires to countries, the assessment document was revised on the basis of replies received, and is presented at this meeting (UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/Inf.4). The proposed measures appear in document UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/3.

Cadmium and cadmium compounds

Document UNEP/WG.160/9 entitled "Assessment of the state of pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by cadmium and cadmium compounds and proposed measures" was submitted to the Fifth meeting of the Working

Group for Scientific and Technical Cooperation (Athens, 6-10 April 1987). Following the comments made by the Group a revised document has been prepared (UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/Inf.5) for consideration by the meeting. The proposed measures appear in document UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/3.

Organotin compounds

Document UNEP(OCA)/MED WG 1/7 entitled "Assessment of organotin compounds as marine pollutants and proposed measures for the Mediterranean" was prepared and submitted to the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Committee (Athens, 23-27 May 1988) for consideration. The proposed measures included a ban on the use of anti fouling paints containing tri-organtin compounds on boats of less than 25 m long and on structures associated with mariculture as well as a ban on the use of free association TBT paints on boats greater than 25 m long. On this last point, the Committee was of the opinion that measures for sea-going vessels should only be taken at an international level and specifically within IMO's framework. The proposed measures, as revised by the Committee, appear in document UNEP(OCA)/MED WG 3/3.

As far as the measures for sea-going vessels are concerned the Coordinating Unit was represented at the 27th Session of the Marine Environment Protection Committee (MEPC) of IMO (London, 13-17 March 1989) where the subject was discussed. As a result of the discussions the MEPC decided to add this topic to its work programme with 1990 as the target year for completing the work.

Organohalogen compounds

An assessment document on organohalogen compounds has been prepared and is presented at this meeting (UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/Inf.6). It deals with only a few compounds for which available information was considered sufficient. The proposed measures appear in document UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/3.

Organophosphorus compounds

The first draft of the assessment document on organophosphorus compounds has been completed. This now will be revised to include recent information from the Mediterranean and then it will be sent, together with the proposed measures to MED POL National Coordinators for comments.

5) Research and study topics

Under this chapter, only research activities more immediately linked to the implementation of the LBS protocol are considered. Other research activities are covered in chapter 2.6. More details on the research projects are given in document "Supplementary information on the Implementation of MED POL in 1988" which is presented as a reference document to this meeting.

Activity B - Development of reporting formats

Projects completed in 1988: - 0
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 1

Total 1988 contribution: - US\$ 3,500.

The project under this activity, which commenced in 1986 and is scheduled for completion in 1989, deals with the development of approaches for the continuous assessment of pollutant loads.

Activity C - Formulation of the scientific rationale for the environmental quality criteria

Projects completed in 1988: - 2 Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 3

Total 1988 contribution: - US\$ 10,500.

Completed projects dealt with intercomparisons of techniques for monitoring shellfish waters in relation to environmental quality criteria, and development of models for calculating the environmental capacity of seawater. Ongoing projects, two of which were extended from 1987, and one newly-accepted, deal with studies related to environmental quality criteria for coastal waters.

A consultation meeting on health-related environmental quality criteria in the Mediterranean was held in Bled, Yugoslavia, from 12 to 16 September 1988, and attended by 23 experts from 9 Mediterranean countries and 4 from non-Mediterranean countries. The meeting which was financed from WHO regular budget funds, reviewed the results of the pilot phase of the project on health hazards from methylmercury in Mediterranean seafood, finalized the protocol for epidemiological studies, agreed on the procedures for the second phase of the project, and reviewed future requirements in connection with health-related criteria vis-a-vis metal pollutants in Annexes I and II to the LBS protocol.

Activity D - Epidemiological studies

Projects completed in 1988: - 7
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 15

Total 1988 contribution: - US\$ 43,000.

Completed projects dealt with mercury and methylmercury in seafood and related health hazards, with neurotoxins in shellfish and with the analysis of mercury and methylmercury in seafood. Ongoing projects, of which four were formally extended from 1987 and six newly-accepted, deal with microbiological epidemiological studies correlating seawater quality with health effects, health hazards from mercury and cadmium in seafood, marine biotoxins, and pathogenic micro-organisms in seawater.

The expert meeting in Bled in September 1988 described under Activity C also dealt with this activity. In accordance with the recommendations of this meeting regarding the second phase of the methylmercury project, the Ministries of Health of all Mediterranean countries were formally requested by the WHO Regional Office for Europe to provide information regarding coastal areas where consumption of seafood was above average, with a view to identifying possible areas of concern.

Activity E - Development of proposals for guidelines and criteria

Projects completed in 1988: - 0
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 4

Total 1988 contribution: - US\$ 7,000.

All four ongoing projects are intimately linked with LBS activities and deal with submarine outfall structure design, studies on used lubricating oils in effluents, health-related environmental impact assessment in selected projects, and coastal pollution by solid wastes.

Activity G - Research on the toxicity, persistence, bioaccumulation, carcinogenicity and mutagenicity

Projects completed in 1988 - 6
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988 - 26

Total 1988 contribution - US\$ 66,500.

Five projects were completed in 1988 studying toxicity effects of selected contaminants to marine organisms. The 18 ongoing projects cover research areas such as:

- a) Study of toxicity effects of chromium, zinc, copper, lead, cadmium, selenium and arsenic in various marine organisms.
- b) Bioaccumulation, persistance and toxicity of uranium and plutonium in certain consumable organisms.
- c) Study of bioprotection mechanisms in organisms.
- d) Accumulation of tin, organotin, mercury and thallium in organisms.
- e) Study of metal-binding proteins.

A new set of final reports were published in MAP Technical Reports no.24.

Of the ongoing projects on carcinogenicity and/or mutagenicity of marine pollutants, six were formally extended from 1987 and two newly-accepted. They deal with the development of short-term tests for pollutant mutagenicity, the relationship between carcinogenic marine pollutants and human degenerative disease, and the effects of various environmental factors on the carcinogenicity and/or mutagenicity of marine pollutants.

The FAO/UNEP consultation meeting on the toxicity of selected substances to marine organisms was held in Villefranche-sur-mer, France, from 10-14 October 1988. The meeting critically reviewed the work undertaken so far in the framework of this activity and made certain recommendations as regards the future activities (document FIR/MEDPOL/TOX/8). The meeting also revised the three draft reference methods (no. 43, 44, 45) on acute toxicity based on the results of an inter-laboratory acute toxicity testing exercise with marine organisms.

5. Monitoring of Marine Pollution in the Mediterranean

1) National monitoring programmes

By the end of 1988 nine national monitoring programmes had been signed with Algeria, Cyprus, Greece, Israel, Lebanon, Malta, Morocco, Syria and Yugoslavia, respectively. Although a yearly formal agreement was not reached, indications were given by the respective national coordinators that monitoring activities were also ongoing in Egypt and Libya who had both signed an agreement in 1986. The national coordinators of France, Monaco, Spain and Italy informed that, although a signed agreement was not necessary, in their respective countries a network of monitoring stations existed and that information and data would be transmitted to the Coordinating Unit. Tunisia and Turkey did not propose to the Coordinating Unit any monitoring programme. More details on the countries' participation in the monitoring component of MED POL are given in document "Supplementary information on the Implementation of MED POL in 1988" which is presented as a reference document to this meeting.

During 1988 the secretariat, directly or through the Cooperating Agencies, provided assistance either in cash or in equipment and material to the countries that had finalized the monitoring agreement for a total of US\$ 346,700 The monitoring assistance was distributed as follows: Algeria 36,000 US\$, Cyprus 25,000 US\$, Egypt 9,700 US\$ Greece 60,000 US\$, Israel 38,000 US\$, Lebanon 40,000 US\$, Malta 14,000 US\$, Morocco 34,000 US\$, Syria 36,000 US\$ and Yugoslavia 54,000 US\$. In most cases, the above figures represent only funds committed, which may bring minor changes when final invoices are paid.

As of April 1989, 1988 data were received from Israel, Italy, Lebanon, Malta and Morocco, mostly on coastal waters.

As to activities related to the monitoring of the transport of pollution through the atmosphere, by March 1989 four countries (Cyprus, France, Tunisia and Turkey) had expressed interest in this type of monitoring but no countries had included this type of monitoring into their national monitoring agreement. In 1988 three automatic precipitation collectors were provided to Cyprus, Spain and Turkey in connection with their participation in the pilot monitoring project still being implemented as part of the research component of MED POL (activity 'L').

During 1988, in line with the refocusing of the entire Mediterranean Action Plan, a thorough evaluation of the available MED POL monitoring data and programme was made by the Coordinating Unit. In particular, the available data on heavy metals, chlorinated hydrocarbons, petroleum hydrocarbons and microbial pollution were analyzed and an evaluation was made through consultants. Two small <u>ad hoc</u> meetings were held in Monaco on 26 April and 27-28 June to discuss and finalize the evaluation documents. The documents were presented to a meeting of responsible investigators of national monitoring programmes (Athens, 20-23 March 1989) together with an account on the state of the monitoring component of MED POL and proposed changes for the biennium 1990-1991 (UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.5/3).

2) Data Quality Assurance

A comprehensive programme of technical support to selected monitoring laboratories was initiated in 1988 and coordinated by the Marine Environmental Studies Laboratory MESL (of IAEA) in Monaco. Specialist training was provided to a total of 18 staff from laboratories in Egypt, Algeria, Morocco, Libya and Cyprus.

Extended visits were made (joint monitoring exercises) by specialist staff from Monaco to laboratories in Egypt, Algeria and Morocco and specific assistance was given for setting up national quality assurance programmes in these countries. A training cruise was also organized on the Moroccan vessel Sharif Al Idrissi from 10-15 May 1988. The Quality Assurance programme will continue (in its pilot phase) through 1989.

As an additional service to regional laboratories a bank of reference materials and standards is being established in Monaco in order to provide direct assistance on data quality assurance to the regional monitoring and research laboratories.

3) Intercalibration

The following intercalibration exercises were initiated during 1988: Trace metals in Mediterranean pelagic sediments (SD-M-2/TM); Chlorinated hydrocarbons in Mediterranean pelagic sediments (SD-M-2/OC); Trace metals in Mediterranean tuna fish (IAEA-350); Halogenated hydrocarbons in Mediterranean tuna fish.

These exercises will terminate in May 1989. A further two "hot-spot" exercises are planned for mid 1989.

Final reports were issued on three completed exercises:

Intercalibration of Analytical Methods on Marine Environmental Samples: Trace Element Measurements on Fish Homogenate (MA-B-3/TM) (IAEA Report No.36).

Final Report on the Intercomparison of Organochlorine Compounds in Shrimp Homogenate (MA-A-3/OC) and on Fish Homogenate (MA-B-3/OC) (IAEA Report No.37).

Final Report on the Intercalibration Exercise of Petroleum Hydrocarbons in Oyster (MA-K-1/PH) and in Sediment (SD-K-1/PH) (IAEA Report No.38).

A systematic review of the progress of data quality in the past 10 years was made. This revealed a steady improvement in data quality for trace metals as MEDPOL has progressed (MEDPOL data is now better than the world average). Data quality for organic contaminants, however, has not shown a marked improvement and considerable attention is still required to these parameters.

A training course and intercalibration exercises on microbiological methods in marine pollution monitoring was held in Athens from 9 to 14 May 1988 in collaboration with the Environmental Pollution Control Project (PERPA), and was attended by 18 participants from 10 Mediterranean countries (EUR/ICP/CEH 061(5). The course was held in English, and a similar course in French is scheduled for September/October 1989.

4) Maintenance

Regular service visits to MEDPOL participating institutions continued throughout 1988 by the MEDPOL instrument maintenance engineer based at the Marine Environmental Studies Laboratory (of ILMR, IAEA) in

Monaco. In addition to regular and emergency service visits of laboratory and field instruments, the MESL-based engineer continued to be in charge of the maintenance of WANG computers provided to the SPA/RAC in Tunis, ROCC in Malta and PAP/RAC in Split.

More details on the maintenance service visits are given in document "Supplementary information on the Implementation of MED POL in 1988" which is presented as a reference document to this meeting.

5) MED POL Data Processing

By March 1989 all MED POL PHASE I data residing on the WANG VS/80 mini system have been converted into PC usable form and the analysis steps have been initiated. This backlog consists of over 20,000 microbiological, over 15,000 heavy metals and almost 7,000 halogenated hydrocarbons data records.

The description of MED POL PHASE II Monitoring Agreements, covering parameters and matrices for sources of pollution, coastal waters and reference areas, has been computerized. The relevant database currently consists of almost 1,500 data records, covering the period 1983-1988 for 13 Mediterranean countries. Data entry is ongoing.

MED POL PHASE II reported monitoring data have been partially computerized. The relevant database consists of more than 15,000 microbiological data records covering eight countries, more than 2,500 heavy metals data records covering nine countries and over 300 halogenated hydrocarbons data records covering six countries. These data cover the 1983-1988 period.

Data entry and computerization of petroleum hydrocarbons, effluents' pollution data and nutrients data are underway.

A computerized database (MEDLIB) has been established following the retrieval and compilation of the world scientific literature. This database includes more than 1,500 references to the effects of climatic change and over 700 references to marine pollution by organotin compounds. In particular a "Bibliography on effects of climatic change and related topics" MAP Technical Report Series no. 29, was prepared. In addition, references for marine pollution by organophosphorus compounds and plastic litter/marine debris are under preparation.

In connection with the data processing activities, a meeting took place in Athens on 6-8 June 1988 and was attended by nine participants. It focussed on the computerization and analysis of marine pollution data. A similar follow-up meeting is planned in the near future.

6) Research and study topics

Under this chapter only research activities more immediately linked to the implementation of the monitoring activities are considered. Research activities more immediately linked to the implementation of the LBS protocol are covered in chapter 1.5.

Activity A - Development of sampling and analytical techniques

Projects completed in 1988: - 5
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 10

Total 1988 contribution: - US\$ 32,500.

Microbiological projects continued to be linked to the revision of existing reference methods or to the development of new ones. Two ongoing projects were both extended from 1987.

In addition to the above projects, two interlaboratory studies on (a) revision of the methodology for determination of faecal coliforms and isolation of \underline{E} . \underline{coli} and (b) comparison of culture media for determination of faecal streptococci, were completed.

Other research projects dealt with included new techniques for detecting contaminants at important interfaces in the area, and testing methods and approaches for monitoring persistant material and litter.

Other projects also dealt with the analysis of heavy metals, organotin and organophosphorus compounds.

Activity F - Research on oceanographic processes

Projects completed in 1988: - 4
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 11

Total contribution: - US\$ 24,000.

The main subjects dealt with concerned modelling of circulation, optimization, vertical and alongshore transports and monitoring of physical oceanography factors (currents).

Activity H - Research on Eutrophication and concomitant plankton blooms

Projects completed in 1988: - 1 Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 8

Total 1988 contributions: - US\$ 27,500

A project was completed in 1988 dealing with eutrophication and plankton blooms in Northern Adriatic. The ongoing projects include:

- a) the study of eutrophication trends in N. Adriatic
- b) the effect of run-off on plankton populations
- c) the study of jelly fish blooms

A UNEP/FAO/IOC/WHO meeting was organised (Athens, 20-23 March, 1989 on the Control and Implications of Undesirable Plankton Blooms (UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.4/2), as described in chapter 2.9.

Activity I - Study of ecosystem modifications in areas influenced by pollutants

Projects completed in 1988: - NIL
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 7

Total 1988 contributions: - US\$ 15,500

The ongoing projects cover topics such as:

- a) the study of the effects of pollution on ichthyoplankton, benthic communities, plankton composition etc.
- b) ecological mapping of phyto-indicators of coastal pollution
- c) trends of the pelagic ecosystem in the Ligurian sea from the beginning of the century

As a follow-up to the recommendations of the FAO/UNEP Meeting on the effects of pollution on marine ecosystems held in Blanes, Spain, 7-11 October 1985, (FAO Fisheries Report no. 352) a FAO/IOC/UNEP Training Workshop on the statistical treatment and interpretation of marine community data was organised in Piran, Yugoslavia from 14-24 June 1988 (FIR/MEDPOL/TW/3). It was attended by 26 participants from 10 Mediterranean countries. The technical responsibility was entrusted to IOC's Group of Experts on the Effects of Pollution (GEEP) members of which acted as lecturers.

Another recommendation of the Blanes meeting was that the manual on Ecological Assessment of Pollution Effects should be revised. The revision has already been undertaken by consultants.

Activity J - Effects on thermal discharges

Projects completed in 1988: - NIL
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 1
Total 1988 contributions: - NIL

One project is ongoing in Algeria studying thermal pollution effects on benthic communities.

Activity K - Biogeochemical cycle of specific pollutants

Projects completed in 1988: - 5
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 13

Total 1988 contribution: - US\$ 39,000.

In the microbiological component of this activity, completed projects covered various aspects of pathogen adaptation to, and survival in, seawater. Ongoing projects, of which 2 were formally extended from 1987 and 2 newly-accepted, cover field studies on discharge from sewage outfalls, inactivation of viruses in the marine environment, and adaptation of pathogenic bacteria to seawater.

Other ongoing projects deal with the environmental fate of organotin compounds and various aspects of the biogeochemical cycles of mercury and cadmium and synthetic surfactants.

Activity L - Study of pollutant-transfer processes

Projects completed in 1988: - 4
Projects ongoing on 31.12.1988: - 19

Total 1988 contribution: - US\$ 58,900.

Ongoing projects covered atmospheric transport and deposition of heavy metals into the Ligurian Sea, the Western Mediterranean, the Bay of Naples and the Adriatic Sea, modelling of atmospheric pollutant transport and Land-to-sea transport of photochemical oxidants.

Other projects covered transport and fate of waste water discharges and transports through selected straits. Transfer processes

related to various substances and waste water discharges were studied in both the coastal zone and open sea.

Transport mechanisms, distribution and mobilization of heavy metals as well as the flux of radionuclides into the Mediterranean were also studied.

7) Training and fellowship

As in the past, during 1988 assistance was provided to MED POL participants in the form of individual group training, visit of experts to less experienced laboratories, support for participation at MED POL meetings (workshops and intercalibration exercises) and travel grants for attendance at meetings related to the MED POL programme. A total of 80 scientists from 15 countries benefited from this support programme. In addition, thirty Mediterranean experts received a partial or total travel grant to attend the IX ICSEM/IOC/UNEP Workshop on marine pollution and the related scientific committees (Athens 17-22 October 1988). In addition, as mentioned under research activity I, twenty six scientists from ten Mediterranean countries attended the FAO/IOC/UNEP Training Workshop on the Statistical Treatment and Interpretation of Marine Community Data Piran, Yugoslavia, 14-24 June 1989).

More details on training and fellowships are given in document "Supplementary information on the Implementation of MED POL in 1988" which is presented as a reference document to this meeting.

8) Coordination

As in the past, the monitoring activities of MED POL were coordinated by the MAP Coordinating Unit through contacts with the MED POL National Coordinators and with the full participation of the relevant Cooperating Agencies (FAO, UNESCO, WHO, WMO, IAEA, IOC).

As to the coordination of the research activities of MED POL, as in the past, the relevant Cooperating Agencies were directly responsible for the technical implementation of the various research projects through direct contacts with the national research centres.

The active participation of the Cooperating Agencies remained an important factor contributing very significantly to the implementation of MED POL. In addition to the regular and frequent contacts between UNEP and the Cooperating Agencies, two meetings of the Inter-Agency Advisory Committee (IAAC) for MED POL took place between 1988 and 1989, in order to ensure the harmonious cooperation and implementation of the MED POL activities:

- XXI Meeting of IAAC (Athens, 13-15 January 1988); it reviewed the activities carried out in 1987 as well as the procedures and priorities for the implementation of 1988 activities (doc. UNEP/IAAC-XXI/2);
- XXII Meeting of IAAC (Athens, 9-13 January 1989); it reviewed the activities carried out in 1988 and to be implemented in 1989, and prepared a workplan and budget for the 1990-1991 MED POL activities (doc. UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.7/3).

9) Plankton blooms and eutrophication

The problem of undesirable plankton blooms, which had become a recurrent phenomenon and was particularly severe during 1988 in the Mediterranean and other areas, was brought up at various meetings organized within the framework of the Mediterranean Action Plan during 1988. The Mediterranean Coordinating Unit was consequently urged to take the initiative to formulate proposals for remedial action.

A meeting on Eutrophication in the Mediterranean sea dealing with the scientific aspects of the problem had already been held, in Bologna, Italy, in March 1987, in the framework of the MED POL activities (MAP Technical Report Series no. 21).

At the meeting of the Expanded Bureau of the Contracting Parties to the Barcelona Convention (Athens, 1-2 November 1988) the problem was again discussed and the Secretariat was requested to organize a meeting on the subject. In compliance to this decision, a joint UNEP/FAO/IOC/WHO meeting was convened on the Implications and Control of Undesirable Plankton Blooms and it took place in Athens from 4-6 April 1989 (doc. UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.4/2).

The meeting concentrated on the practical issues and discussed the possible causes as well as measures for alleviating the effects of the phenomenon. The meeting also stressed the importance of international cooperation and the need for uniforming the analytical techniques as well as presentation of the results for a better understanding of the problem at regional level.

10) Implications of expected climatic changes in the Mediterranean region

In line with the decision of the Fourteenth Session of the UNEP Governing Council on "Global Climate Changes" (UNEP/GC/DEC/14/20), the Oceans and Coastal Areas Programme Activity Centre (OCA/PAC) of UNEP launched and supported a number of activities designed to assess the potential impact of climate changes and to assist the Governments in the identification and implementation of suitable response measures which may mitigate the negative consequences of the impact.

In 1987, Task Teams on Implications of climate change were established for six regions covered by the UNEP Regional Seas Programme (Mediterranean, Wider Caribbean, South Pacific, East Asian Seas, South Asian Seas and South-East Pacific).

The initial objective of the Task Teams was to prepare regional overviews and site-specific case studies on the possible impact of predicted climate changes on the ecological systems, as well as on the socio-economic structures and activities of the respective regions.

In the Mediterranean six site-specific studies were prepared (Deltas of rivers Nile, Po, Rhone and Ebro, Thermaïkos Gulf and Garaet el Ichkeul/Lac de Bizerte).

Mediterranean regional studies and site-specific studies prepared by the Mediterranean Task Team were presented at the Meeting in Split (3-8 Oct. 1988) (UNEP(OCA)/WG.2/25).

An overview of the implications of expected climate changes in the Mediterranean region, based on the results of the studies prepared by the Mediterranean Task Team was published (UNEP Regional Seas Reports and Studies No.103 and MAP Technical Reports Series No.27). The edited version of selected papers from the Mediterranean Task Team will be published in a book by Pergamon Press by the end of 1989.

The case study on Nile delta was presented at a national seminar (Cairo, 27-28 December 1988, UNEP, 1989). The case study on Po delta and Venice lagoon will be presented on 24-26 May 1989 at a national seminar. Case studies on Ebro delta and Thermaïkos Gulf will be presented at respective national seminars by September 1989 and studies on Rhone delta/Golfe de Lion and Garaet el Ichkeul/Lac de Bizerte by the end of 1989.

The development of a climate scenario for the Mediterranean region, with subregional details, is being prepared and will be ready by the end of 1990.

11) Report on the state of the Mediterranean marine environment

A report on the state of the Mediterranean marine environment was prepared by a Task Team established in consultation between Oceans and Coastal Areas Programme Activity Centre (OCA/PAC) of UNEP and the Mediterranean Coordinating Unit. The Task Team was composed of experts and members of the Unit. The report was prepared with the financial support of OCA/PAC and was published as MAP Technical Reports Series No.28. The report covers main characteristics of the region, information on marine contaminants, human activities affecting the Mediterranean Sea, biological effects, prevention and control strategies in the frame of the MAP, implications of climate changes in the Mediterranean region, cost of pollution control and summary.

6. Prevention and combating pollution from ships

a) Protocol on emergencies

To strengthen the capacities of the coastal States in the Mediterranean to respond to pollution caused by oil and other harmful substances especially in the case of emergency, the Regional Oil Combating Centre (ROCC) carried out various activities during the period under consideration and in conformity with the approved workplan. Activities have been focused on conducting training courses (general/practical) on combating pollution caused by oil and updating the main documentation (Directory of participants, Directory of marine anti-pollution terms, etc.):

1) Studies and surveys:

- ROCC's Technical Expert participated in a maritime sector assignment mission organized by the World Bank Environmental Programme for the Mediterranean in three Mediterranean countries (Algeria, Yugoslavia, Turkey) from 26 May to 17 June 1988.

A technical report has been prepared by ROCC's Technical Expert.

- ROCC published and disseminated in January 1989 its annually updated List of Alerts and Accidents in the Mediterranean.

2) <u>Meetings, seminars, workshops, study tours, training courses, fellowships undertaken or under preparation</u>

Training Courses organized and partly financed by ROCC:

MEDIPOL 88 training course was held from 8 to 18 March 1988. Like previous MEDIPOLs, this is a general training course on marine pollution combating organized annually by ROCC at its premises in Malta. For the first time, the programme was extended to harmful substances other than oil. EEC supported financially the participation of 11 participants from EEC countries (7 from non Mediterraneans countries, 4 from Mediterranean countries). ROCC supported financially 10 participants coming from Mediterranean countries. Six participants from Italy (1), Greece (1), Libya (2) and Kuwait (2) were supported by their oil companies.

MEDEXPOL 88 practical training course on Containment and Recovery Techniques at Sea, took place in Ercolano, Italy from 28 September 1988 to 04 October 1988. It was organized with the logistic support of CASTALIA S.p.A. (Società Italiana per l'Ambiente) and the cost was shared between the Centre and the European Economic Community (EEC) on a 50/50 basis.

3) Training courses organized in co-operation with ROCC:

A training course on Marine Pollution Prevention, Control and Response, organized by the Arab Maritime Transport Academy (AMTA) with ROCC technical support was held in Alexandria, Egypt, from 12 to 19 November 1988.

4) Workshop and training courses under preparation (financially supported by ROCC):

Workshop on Combating Accidental Pollution by Harmful Substances:

Following the decision of the Contracting Parties (see UNEP/IG.74/5, Section II, M) a Workshop will be organized to provide the participants in the Workshop with an overview of the problems related to maritime transportation of harmful substances and accidental spillages, and to discuss and approve recommendations concerning:

- Actions which should be undertaken to combat accidental pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by harmful substances;
- Functions of the Centre;
- Workplan for future activities.

The Workshop will take place in Malta from 22 to 26 May 1989. Working documents for the meeting have been prepared and disseminated to the Focal Points and to participants in the Workshop. (ROCC/WG.1/3 - Introduction to Programme and Lectures concerning the Problems related to Maritime Transport of Harmful Substances; ROCC/WG.1/4 - Proposed Conclusions and Recommendations of ROCC concerning Accidental Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by Harmful Substances including Proposals on the Functions of the Centre and on a Workplan for Future Activities).

5) Status of documents, reports, manuals, guidelines, being prepared

- i) <u>ROCC INFO</u> 20 and 21 were prepared and disseminated in January 1988 and in June 1988 respectively. The next issue is presently under preparation and will be ready for distribution in May 1989.
- ii) An updated edition of the '<u>Directory of the Mediterranean Region of Participants to Marine Pollution Combating Training Courses</u>" was disseminated in April 1988.
 - A new edition is under preparation which will include a breakdown of costs of participation per country and per training course in order to produce a clear picture of ROCC's efforts in training of personnel for Mediterranean coastal States.
- iii) A new bilingual, enriched and updated edition of the "Concise Dictionary of Marine Antipollution Terms" was disseminated in June 1988.

- iv) The fourth edition of the 'Guide for Combating Accidental Marine Pollution in the Mediterranean Sea" is being issued in July 1988. A section dealing with harmful substances other than oil has been introduced. The title of this edition, which now covers accidental marine pollution as a whole, has been modified.
- v) A new inventory of "Experts in Marine Pollution Combating" for the Mediterranean region has been disseminated in September 1988.
- vi) The third edition of the "Catalogue of Spill Response Equipment and Products" has been disseminated in March 1989. New products which had been introduced on the market in the last two years were included and the others which had dissappeared were deleted. The list of manufacturers and distributors was also updated and corrected.

All these documents are produced in the two official languages of the Centre: French and English.

6) Status of implementation of other activities

- i) Upon the retirement of Mr. M. Voirin, Mr. J.C. Sainlos was appointed as Director. Following the decision of the Bureau the post of Deputy Director has been abolished on 31 December 1988 and a chemist is under recruitment.
- ii) <u>Alert and Communication Exercise</u>: During the week 06 to 09 March 1989, the Centre organized an alert and communication exercise with a view to test the level of preparedness of the Mediterranean countries to communicate with the Centre and between themselves and to co-operate in case of a serious pollution accident.
- iii) At the request of Yugoslavia, ROCC provided assistance in finalizing Yugoslav's National Contingency Plan. The Technical Expert of the Centre visited Yugoslavia from 28 February 1989 to 5 March 1989 for this purpose.
- iv) The Director of the Centre visited several countries: Yugoslavia 17 February 1989, Greece 22 February 1989, Turkey 23 February 1989, France 30 March 1989, Italy 31 March 1989 and EEC Commission 26 November 1988. The main purpose of these visits was to establish direct personal contact with ROCC Focal Points and to discuss the goal of the regional co-operation and the objectives of the Centre in that connection as well as to introduce the Workshop of May 1989 and to emphasize its importance. The Director plans to visit the other countries of the region before the end of the year.

7) Problems encountered

i) The Centre was faced with the problem of unavailability of proper equipment for word processing and data processing as well as for communications. The present computer equipment (1 OIS WP and 1 Wang PC) are far from adequate for carrying out the Centre's tasks. The delay in approving the funding for acquisition of additional equipment, has unnecessarily aggravated the situation. The Centre is currently in the process of purchasing additional equipment (1 IBM PC/AT compatible and a facsimile -as a first priority).

The capabilities of the Centre in word processing, data processing, photocopying as well as communications have to be progressively developed to reach adequate levels as proposed by the Computer Officer of MEDU.

- ii) Due to the abolishment of the post of Deputy Director (Administration and Finance) an organizational change took place as from 01 January 1989. Under the direct supervision of the Director, administrative duties were distributed amongst the General Service Staff. The Director requested IMO to send an officer from the Personnel Section of IMO to assist with the organization of ROCC. The visit took place from 5 to 10 March 1989. The Report of the Mission will be officially transmitted soon; it will include a proposal of new job descriptions and grading for the General Service Staff.
- iii) The negotiations for the signature of a Headquarters Agreement between the Maltese Government and IMO have been re-opened and this question is under discussion at the moment.

During these negotiations, it was mentioned by the Maltese official, that the Maltese Government will commit itself to provide new premises for ROCC with the same facilities and under the same conditions if the Centre had to move in the future. This commitment of the Maltese Government, will be reflected in the Headquarters Agreement.

b) Port reception facilities

1) Establishment of reception facilities for dirty ballast waters and other oily residues received from tankers and ships in ports of the Mediterranean was one of the ten targets selected by the Contracting Parties (Genoa, September 1985) to be achieved as a matter of priority during the second decade of the Mediterranean Action Plan (Genoa Declaration). Furthermore, in accordance with MARPOL Convention (73/78), the discharge of dirty ballast waters is banned in special areas such as the Mediterranean Sea.

The first concrete example in the road to achieve this target was the close collaboration of the Co-ordinating Unit, the European Economic Community and the national and regional authorities in Yugoslavia, Greece and Tunisia, in the form of establishing reception facilities in Rijeka, Patras and Tunis respectively. Consultation with Egypt in regard to the establishment of reception facilities in Port Said has started but not yet finalized. The envisaged new environmental programme for the Mediterranean launched by the World Bank and the interest expressed by the European Investment Bank along with the EEC Programme for the protection of the environment in the Mediterranean (MEDSPA), could be a new venue for financing assistance to Mediterranean coastal States interested to establish port reception facilities.

- 2) In order to obtain information on the actual situation and requirements of Contracting Parties in the field of port reception facilities (permanent or floating), a letter was sent to all countries on 7 March 1988 requesting more information on existing and potential facilities, costs, timetable and problems encountered. Only four countries have sent their response (Algeria, Greece, Turkey and Malta).
- 3) In order to place emphasis on the present lack of adequate reception facilities, a workshop was organized by HELMEPA-IMO in Piraeus, Greece on 28 and 29 November 1988 with the participation of shipping companies, seafarers, associations, international oil companies, government agencies, classification societies, and shipping finance institutions. The workshop adopted a resolution strongly appealing to the international maritime community to effectively implement MARPOL 73/78 on a truly global scale and in particular to launch a new initiative to overcome the present lack of adequate reception facilities through:
 - Renewed efforts by Parties to MARPOL 73/78 to fully meet their obligations in respect of their own ports and to provide assistance through multi-lateral and bi-lateral aid schemes.
 - Promotion of internationally financed schemes involving oil exporting countries and both the private and public financing sectors, as appropriate, for the design and construction of ballast reception facilities in "special areas" which has been identified as the most serious impediment to the implementation of Annex I of MARPOL 73/78.

7. Protection of the common Mediterranean heritage

a) Protocol on Specially Protected Areas

The Specially Protected Areas/Regional Activity Centre (SPA/RAC) has carried out its 1988/1989 activities in consistency with the approved workplan. In particular, the following activities were carried out:

1) <u>DIRECTORY OF MARINE AND COASTAL PROTECTED AREAS IN THE MEDITERRANEAN REGION</u>

The English version of the first part of the Directory of the existing protected areas (those of ecological or biological interest) was completed in November 1988 and submitted to the Coordinating Unit for editing. It will be published and distributed under MAP Technical Reports Series No.: 26. The French version will be ready in the middle of 1989.

2) <u>COMPUTERIZED DATA BANKS ON THE AREAS, EXPERTS AND REFERENCE MATERIAL</u>

The computerized data banks showed little progress when compared to the large quatities of data sent to the Centre; this is due to the fact that the post of documentalist remains vacant.

3) <u>CENTRE BULLETIN: SPA NEWS</u>

Numbers 2 and 3 of the Centre Bulletin were published in July and in December 1988 respectively. An Arabic version of Number 3 was also issued by UNEP, Athens. Two issues have been scheduled for 1989.

4) ACTION PLAN FOR THE CONSERVATION OF THE MONK SEAL

The Action Plan for the conservation of the Mediterranean monk seal was reviewed by the experts and submitted to the Scientific and Technical Committee meeting in 1988. This is a reference plan for the Governments, the Centre and many other organizations as concerns the protection of the monk seal.

5) ACTION PLAN FOR THE CONSERVATION OF MARINE TURTLES

A meeting of Focal Points for Specially Protected Areas and experts from the various countries is scheduled for July 4-6, 1989 at Nicosia (Cyprus). The meeting will analyze the situation and review the provisional version of the Action Plan for the Conservation of the Mediterranean Marine Turtles. The final version of the Plan will be submitted to the next meeting of the Contracting Parties (October, 89).

-

6) <u>LEGISLATION</u>

Since 1988, a synthesis of environmental legislation of the Mediterranean countries is being carried out. To date, 175 texts have been analyzed and the information entered into a computer. The relevant data are constantly being updated. The next objective (1990) is the preparation of guidelines on legislation needed for the implementation of the Protocol and the creation of marine and coastal Specially Protected Areas.

7) <u>UNDERWATER ARCHAEOLOGY</u>

A synthesis of the bodies, institutes and researchers active in this field has been completed. A manual containing the methods and equipment needed for underwater archaeology is being completed; furthermore, an overview of the relevant national legislation concerning underwater archaeology is being put together.

8) RED BOOK ON MARINE PLANTS

For the 1988-1989 period, an expert group was formed in order to analyze the current status of marine flora in the Mediterranean and to prepare a red book of endangered marine plants. More specifically, for 1989 an expert group meeting has been scheduled for 12-17 June to be convened at Marseille (France); the Red Book in its French version has been scheduled for late 1989.

9) MARINE TURTLES - FIELD STUDIES - TRAINING COURSES

A field study on the situation of the marine turtle took place in 1988 in Tunisia. A similar study will take place in July-August 1989 in Algeria and Morocco. On a request by the Turkish authorities, a visit was carried out in the Dalyan area to assess the current situation and propose management measures. A training course on monitoring and management of the reproduction sites of marine turtles will be held in Cyprus between 25 July and 8 August 1989. The Centre will cover the expenses of 4 participants nominated by the States.

10) <u>SELECTION OF AREAS TO BE PROTECTED</u>

In September 1988, the Third Expert Meeting on the identification and protection of at least 50 new marine and coastal sites or reserves of Mediterranean interest (Genoa Declaration) was held at Tunis to determine the Areas in need of protection because of their regional and national interest. 55 sites were selected. A document is being prepared which will list the areas selected, those recommended by other specialized groups and those considered by the States.

11) ASSISTANCE TO COUNTRIES - CONCERTED ACTION - FIELD STUDIES

The assistance to countries for the development of national programmes of environmental protection, for the selection, creation and management of Protected Areas is given upon their request. Activities with Turkey, Syria, Libya, Greece and Malta have been launched. Certain programmes are being carried out in co-operation with other MAP components, as for instance for Syria and Rhodes (Greece) (PAP coastal zone pilot projects) or with other organizations active in the Mediterranean (IUCN-WWF).

b) 100 historic sites

In implementation of one of the ten targets selected by the Contracting Parties during their Fifth Ordinary Meeting (Genoa, September 1985), relative to the identification and protection of at least 100 coastal historic sites of common interest, and in co-operation with the Government of France (Ministries of Foreign

Affairs, Culture, Environment and the City of Marseille) a meeting of responsible officials from the 100 coastal historic sites of common Mediterranean interest was convened in Marseille, from 19 to 21 January 1989. The meeting discussed, revised and approved the guidelines prepared jointly by PAP/RAC and the Atelier du Patrimoine de la Ville de Marseille. On the basis of the Guidelines and within the network that has now been established, exchange of information, identification and advice on projects, and the search for their financing will be promoted. The meeting was attended by seventy participants from 17 countries, including Albania. The Mayor of Marseille offered to host a small secretariat for the network. A written proposal will be submitted to the next meeting of the Contracting Parties (October 1989). The Mayor of Naples and the representative of Thessaloniki offered to host the next two meetings of the network.

8. Environmentally sound management of the Mediterranean coastal zone

a) Date base on Mediterranean environment and development

- 1) The main report of the Blue Plan entitled "Futures of the Mediterranean Basin environment development 2000-2025" has been completed, published in English and French, and presented to the Meeting of the Socio-Economic Committee (Athens, 27-29 September 1988). The executive summary prepared in Arabic, English, and French on the basis of the main report on the Blue Plan has been presented to the Committee. It contains also the suggestions for action made in the main report. It has already received a wide distribution.
- 2) The Blue Plan scenarios outputs were presented to the public and the mass media in two press conferences. The first was held in Athens in conjunction with the meeting of the Expanded Bureau (1 November 1988). The second press conference was held in Cairo on 20 November 1988 during the ASPEN Conference on the Mediterranean. It is envisaged to present the outputs in similar press conferences in Rome and Paris during 1989.
- The RAC/BP President with the help of the editors, took all appropriate measures for the finalization of the English and French versions of the main report with a view to its publication. The text of both versions was totally revised from an editorial point of view, the appropriate clarifications were made, the various parts of the work streamlined and repetitions omitted. Furthermore, all tables and figures were redone for publication.

 The RAC/BP President has launched a search for an English publisher and a French publisher to ensure a commercial distribution of the Report at world level. Negotiations started with the help of a publisher's clearinghouse are promising.
- 4) Work has progressed on the thematic reports. Their preparation will be completed by end-1989 according to a calendar presented to the Committee. However, the reports on conservation, fisheries and the water are in the final stage of preparation; those on agriculture, the hinterland and the islands are in an advanced stage.
- 5) The Blue Plan annotated data base is being transferred to Athens. Updating of the data base is continuing throughout 1989, both on the socio-economic part and the environment part.
- 6) In view of the work required to complete publication of the main Report and Executive Summary, and to organize the technical seminar, direct assistance to countries through visits was postponed. Such assistance will be provided on request as part of the 1989 programme.

- 7) From 5 to 7 October 1988, the Scientific Consultant presented the Blue Plan to the seminar on energy planning in the Mediterranean Basin organized jointly by the EEC and the Tunisian superintendence of Energy at Tunis.
- 8) From 5 to 7 October 1988, Mr. Michel Grenon organized a seminar on the perspectives of natural gas in the Mediterranean Basin; on the occasion, he made an introductory presentation of Blue Plan activities.
- 9) On 17 and 18 October 1988, Mr. Michel Batisse participated in a seminar organized by the Aurelio Peccei Foundation at Erice (Sicily) and took part in the discussion on Blue Plan activities held on that occasion.
- On 14 November 1988, Dr. Mostafa K. Tolba gave Mr. Michel Batisse and Commander Cousteau the insignia of the international environment award "GLOBAL 500" at a ceremony held at UNEP Bureau de l'Industrie headquarters in Paris. The Blue Plan synthesis report was distributed on that occasion.
- On 19 and 20 January 1989, Mr. Batisse presented the Blue Plan during a meeting on the 100 cultural Mediterranean sites organized at Marseille.
- On 15 February 1989, Mr. Grenon presented the Blue Plan activities at a meeting of the Environment Commission of the Economic and Social Committee of the Provence Alpes Côte-d'Azur region held at Marseille; he also made a similar presentation at a preparatory meeting of the Mediterranean Forum on co-operation in the Mediterranean organized by the Association of Mediterranean Exchanges and on 21 March 1989, gave a lecture to Master's degree students, at the University of Nice on the methodology of prospective and its applications in the Mediterranean Basin.
- During its meeting in Athens (14-15 March 1989), the Bureau of the Contracting Parties reviewed a new proposal submitted to it by the French vice-president concerning the post-Blue Plan period. The proposal stipulates the establishment of an "Observatory of the Mediterranean", with a small staff and a budget of \$ 300,000. It would concentrate on the updating of data, giving priority to the environment of coastal areas, technological changes, training programmes, etc., use it for national and regional scenarios and coastal zone planning project exercise and assist governments at their request. France would submit, at a later stage, an estimate of its contribution to the operation of the observatory, which is still to function under the auspices of the Blue Plan Regional Activity Centre. The Bureau recommended that budget proposals for the 1990/1991 biennium should take into account the estimated expenditure related to the post-BP activities. It also took note of the French Government's undertaking to make a counterpart contribution in the form of the establishment of an observatory at Sophia Antipolis.

14) The technical seminar on scenarios methodology and results was held in Sophia Antipolis, France on 22-26 May 1989. The objective was to convene a meeting of nationals who are responsible for the national scenarios with a view to exchanging ideas and experience on national and on Mediterranean scenarios and the methodology of building scenarios. The results of the workshop will be presented to the Joint Meeting.

b) Coastal Planning and Management

The activities of PAP over the period 1988 - May 1989 have been carried out in consistency with the approved workplans of the various Priority Actions.

These activities have been focused on the implementation of practical actions oriented towards integrated planning and environmentally sound management of Mediterranean coastal zones. The share of the integrated planning component has gradually increased in the programme while other Priority Actions have been concentrated on the preparation of methodological documents and training geared to the practical application of their results in the process of integrated planning and management of coastal areas.

General

- 1) While the earlier activities of PAP were oriented towards fact finding and case studies within selected priority topics, in the period 1988 May 1989 PAP has focused on the following:
 - further development and strengthening of PAP network of experts and institutions representing as equitably as possible all Mediterranean countries;
 - preparation of methodological documents, guidelines and codes of practice;
 - preparation of documents for training courses and organization of training focused on the practical application of knowledge and experience under specific Mediterranean conditions;
 - organization of seminars and workshops based on methodological documents and resulting in practical actions;
 - preparations for and implentation of co-operative projects in the fields of seismic risk reduction, soil erosion mapping and measurements, and environmentally sound planning and management of Mediterranean aquaculture.
- 2) In drafting programmes and carrying them out PAP/RAC has strived to accomplish its specific catalytic role and has enjoyed a generous support from a number of country administrations (Italy: Cooperative project on seismic risk reduction; Spain ICONA; Cooperative project on soil erosion mapping and measurements: Spain CIOEMAT; Cooperative network on renewable energy sources: Malta; Water resources management project: Cyprus, Egypt and Morocco: preparation of pilot EIAs: France CEFIGRE: Training course on liquid waste treatment plants operation and maintenance: France Municipality of Marseille: (a) action on 100 histotic sites of common Mediterranean interest, and (b) preparation of training on environmentally sound approach to planning and design of waste treatment plants for big Mediterranean coastal cities: Syria, Turkey, Yugoslavia and Greece: preparation and implementation of PAP pilot projects). PAP/RAC has also enjoyed full support of OCA/PAC-UNEP in the preparation and implementation of the action addressing EIA issues and in training on the application of ARC/INFO in the planning process.

- 3) Furthermore, PAP/RAC has sought to secure cooperation and, whenever possible, participation of relevant MAP and UNEP programmes, UN Agencies, and international institutions and organizations. This has enabled the use international knowledge, avoiding of duplication and overlapping of efforts, and rational use of limited funds.
- 4) The practice of organizing some seminars and workshops outside PAP/RAC offices has continued, owing to encouraging results achieved in the promotion of MAP and PAP activities in the host countries, and to the fact that a large number of local experts have had the opportunity to take part in these seminars and workshops.
- 5) Consolidation of the Centre has continued. Mention should be made, that the Federal Assembly of Yugoslavia adopted the Law of the Regional Activity Centre for the Priority Actions Programme in January 1989. This legal framework regulates the operation of the Centre and makes possible signing of the agreement between the Government hosting the Centre and UNEP on the Centre's role and function.
- 6) Difficulties faced in the implementation of the Programme has been the result of the current scarcity of Mediterranean Trust Funds. Therefore, some activites envisaged for 1988 had to be postponed. As the changes had to be reflected on the Project Document a number of revisions have been made weighing additionally upon the small staff of the Centre.
- 7) Outputs of individual actions have been sorted out, and some of them selected for translation into English/French and Arabic. Many of these outputs have been synthesized, edited and published as MAP Technical Reports Series. A list of PAP documents produced in the period 1985 - March 1989 has been sent to all PAP Focal Points.

Results achieved in Priority Actions

This is a survey of the most important results aheieved in the individual priority actions, while for a detailed insight reference documents are available according to the list contained in Annex I.

1) Integrated Planning and Management of Mediterranean Coastal Zones

"Common Methodological Framework for the Process of Integrated Planning and Management of Mediterranean Coastal Areas" was prepared, and presented and discussed in the Meeting in Izmir in June 1988. It was later disseminated and used as the methodological basis for further activities.

Training documents on integrated planning were prepared and used for training in PAP CPPs. A training programme was prepared on the use of adequate software and PC hardware in the planning process under the Mediterranean conditions.

Preparations were made for the introduction of the integrated planning in the PAP CPPs, and initial studies were made for the potential new CPPs.

2) Application of Environmental Impact Assessment in the Development of Mediterranean Coastal Zones

In cooperation with OCA/PAC and Med Pol a Practical Approach to the EIA was prepared for the application in the Mediterranean countries, as well as Guidelines for the preparation of EIAs for marinas, touristic complexes, wastewater treatment plants and submarine outfalls. In cooperation with national experts and on the basis of those documents, 2 pilot EIAs were prepared in Cyprus, and an expert meeting was organized for the presentation and evaluation of those EIAs. That meeting also evaluated and amended the Practical Approach and Guidelines.

At the moment and on the same basis, three pilot EIAs are in preparation in Morocco, and two in Egypt.

In cooperation with and under the guidance of OCA/PAC, an inter-regional meeting on the application of EIA is also being prepared, to be held in November 1989 in Cairo and Alexandria.

3) Water Resources Management in Mediterranean Islands and Isolated Coastal Zones

In cooperation with institutions of the host-country, the project proposal of Water Resources Management of the Island of Malta was prepared, the outside financial support was secured, the tender for an international competition was prepared, and the technical side of the received offers was analyzed. Within this activity, a special attention was given to the preparation of a general aquifer model for Mediterranean islands, to be used for training purposes.

Guidelines on reuse of urban wastewater for agricultural purposes in Mediterranean countries are being prepared in cooperation with FAO and WHO.

The preparation of the Manual on Water Resources Management in Mediterranean Islands and Coastal Areas had to be postponed due to the lack of funds.

4) Rehabilitation and Reconstruction of Mediterranean Historic Settlements

Methodological documents were prepared, and a Workshop on Methodology of Analyzing the Spatial Development of Mediterranean Historic Sites organized. A workshop is in preparation on evaluation and improvement of urban architectural heritage.

"Guidelines for the Study, Protection, Planning and Management of Mediterranean Historic Sites" was prepared and presented in the meeting on 100 Historic Sites of Common Mediterranean Interest held in Marseille in January 1989.

A draft synthesis of the methodological documents on the preparation of architectural survey, analysis of the actual state, and of spatial development of Mediterranen historic sites was also prepared, to be presented in a workshop in October 1989.

5) <u>Land-Use Planning in Earthquake Zones</u>

The final version of the Project for Seismic Risk Reduction in the Mediterranean Region was prepared in cooperation with UNDRO and UNDP. The first meeting of the project steering committee was organized in Genoa in April 1988. With the support by the Italian Government and the Municipality, Genoa has become the seat of the project, and its implementation started as a UNDP project. As a part of its contribution to this project, PAP is preparing documents on the implementation of seismic risk mitigation measures in the process of integrated planning.

6) <u>Promotion of Soil Protection as an Essential Component of the Environmental Protection in the Mediterranean Coastal Zones</u>

This action has been developing as a separate cooperative project hosted by Spain and ICONA (Instituto Nacional para la Conservacion de la Naturaleza, Madrid), in cooperation with ACSAD, FAO and UNEP.

In 1988, a number of reports and methodological documents on erosion mapping and measuring was prepared, and presented in the Workshop on the State of Rainfall Erosion (Murcia, November 1988). Two expert meetings were also organized in March 1989, which made the programme for the implementation of the 1st phase of the project (1990-91), as well as the concept of the 2nd phase (1992-95). The final version of the project document is in preparation (inter-agency meeting, Split, May 1989). Preparatory activities have been started for the selection of pilot areas, and for the organization of a workshop to conclude the preparatory phase of the project (Malaga, November 1989).

7) Solid and Liquid Waste Collection, Disposal and Management

"Code of Practice for Environmentally Sound Management of Liquid Waste Discharge in the Mediterranean Sea" is being translated in French, while "Guide pratique pour la gestion des déchets solides urbains dans les pays riverains de la Méditerranée" is being translated in English. A workshop to evaluate these documents is being prepared (Split, September 1989).

In cooperation with CEFIGRE (France) the documents for the training course on management and maintenance of urban waste treatment plants in the Mediterranean were prepared and the first course on the subject organized in December 1988. The preparations of the second course are under way, including the translation of the documents in French. A course on wastewater reuse is also in preparation (to be held in December 1989 or January 1990).

In cooperation with the Municipality of Marseille, a course is in preparation on an environmental approach to planning and design of liquid waste treatment plants for large Mediterranean cities.

8) Development of Mediterranean Tourism Harmonized with the Environment

An expert meeting for the preparation of draft Guidelines for an Environmental Approach to the Planning and Management of Tourism Development in the Mediterranean Coastal Zones was held in Split in February 1988, specific documents form 6 countries were prepared as well as draft Guidelines. A workshop is in preparation for the presentation and evaluation of the Guidelines (Split, May 1989).

9) Environmental Planning and Management of Aquaculture in Mediterranean Conditions

A proposal of a cooperative project for this priority action was prepared jointly with FAO and MEDRAP in 1987. Since this project requires considerable outside financial support, it was offered to one of the Contracting Parties for hosting. Although all the possible initiatives were made it was not possible, so far, to get a definitive answer on the possibility of supporting this project. Therefore, for the next period, a limited programme is proposed to serve an an input to the process of integrated planning.

10) <u>Mediterranean Network in Renewable Sources of Energy</u>

This action has been hosted by Spain and CIEMAT (Centro de Investigaciones Energeticas, Medioambientales y Termologicas). The programme and documents of the training course on the practical application of renewable energy sources in the Mediterranean conditions were jointly prepared, and the course organized in Almeria in November-December 1988.

The documents are being translated in French and the preparation of the second course (in French and English) is under way. The course is to be held in Madrid and Almeria in November 1989.

The document "The Role of Renewable Energy Sources in the Integrated Planning of Mediteerranean Coastal Zones" is also in preparation.

11) General Support PAP

Within the general support to PAP the necessary logistic and administrative support was secured, as well as temporary assistance to individual priority actions and CPPs, preparation of financial and progress reports, programme and budget proposals, and cooperation with MEDU, other MAP programmes, OCA/PAC, UNEP, UN agencies, international institutions and organizations, and the authorities of the Contracting Parties.

A part of the equipment of the Centre was renewed, and a regular preparation and dissemination of the Bulletin in English, French and Arabic was secured.

c) Coastal zones pilot projects

- 1) Pilot projects constitute a new form of cooperation between PAP/MAP and national and local institutions and experts which is aimed at the creation of favourable conditions for the implementation of the process of integrated planning and management in Mediterranean coastal areas. While being carried out in selected sites in interested Mediterranean countries they address various issues of interest for the majority of Contracting Parties. In addition to host countries, results of these projects will be used in other countries of the region to demonstrate how similar problems can be solved. They will be also used for training and exchange of experience. The pilot projects incorporate the results arrived at in all Priority Actions as well as those of other MAP programmes.
- 2) The experience obtained in the preparation and carrying out of the pilot projects points at the need for formulating these programmes so as to depart from the specific conditions of the country and the selected coastal zone, from the current level of planning and management practice in the country, and from the capacity and experience of local experts and institutions. Therefore, MAP/PAP pilot projects have been broken down into: (i) preparatory phase (collection of data, information on the state of problems, acquiring knowledge on national and local capabilities, networking, creation of conditions for local and national co-financing, formulation of a consistent programme); (ii) programme implementation (preparation of interim planning documents, immediate recovery proposla, setting up of data base, training of local experts in methodologies, tools and techniques of integrated planning, preparation of EIAs and hazard assessment and risk management studies, preparation of coatal zone scenarios, and preparation of an integrated plan proposal); and (iii) follow up focusing on the management problems and, eventually, launching of the integrated plan.
- 3) The completed activities envisaged within the projects "The Izmir Bay", "The Syrian Coastal Region" and "The Bay of Kastela" (the "Rhodos" project started later) have yielded results of a general nature as well as concrete ones.

The main results of a general nature are:

- (i) A number of new national and local activities have been launched within each pilot project; major and the most critical problems have been identified and consistent programmes drafted for their solution.
- (ii) Additional local, national and (in the case of Izmir and Kastela) considerable international support has been secured for the implementation of long-term programmes.
- (iii) National organizational structures have been set up as well as teams who are entrusted with the coordination and carrying the programmes into effect.

(iv) The existing information basis has been improved and widened to accommodate the programmes.

The main concrete results achieved in the pilot projects are:

(a) The Bay of Kastela

This PAP project is part of a large-scale national project wherein the solution of problems related to the environmentally sound management of natural resources of the Bay and the surrounding urban area of Split is approached in an integrated manner. PAP contribution to this project consists of the identification of the assimilative capacity of the Bay; incorporation of the engineering and environmental components for the determination of the appropriate waste water treatment system; determination of design criteria for submarine outfalls; and starting off the activities for the creation of a complex outfalls; and starting off the activities for the creation of a complex geographical information system and a dynamic coast inventory.

The following have been completed:

- methodology (verified), and the programme and time table of analyses to be made for the assessment of environmental capacity of the Bay;
- programme of monitoring and analyses, and a document on the natural characteristics of the sea water in the Bay and the impacts of waste waters on the marine environment;
- a document which defined ecological criteria for the rational planning and development of aquaculture in the Bay;
- training programme for the preparation of GIS by the use of PC-ARC/INFO software (the first phase of the training has been completed) with the support of UNEP-OCA/PAC;

By the end of this year, the programme of monitoring and analysis will be completed, and the assimilative capacity and criteria for discharge of treated waste water will be determined.

(b) The Bay of Izmir

The first phase of the project addresses specific problems of the Bay and the improvement of the state of environment in the Bay. The second phase will include the long-term activities of the recovery of the Bay's ecosystem as well as the activities oriented towards integrated planning and management of the Metropolitan Area of Izmir. Such an inductive approach has been adopted because of the acutness of problems Izmir is facing now. Mention should be made that the project prompted many Turkish and some international institutions to join it and to take a concerted action towards its materialization.

The following has been completed:

- several on-site reports;
- a document related to the assessment of the state of pollution of the Izmir Bay, based on the reports of several PAP missions;
- a document addressing pressing problems of design related to the system of waste water treatment and effluent discharge into the Bay, as well as to the problems of recovery of the Inner Bay;
- a proposal for the preparation of the Interim Study for the Integrated Plan of the Izmir Area.

On the basis of presented PAP documents, the Turkish authorities have developed and started off, in cooperation with MED POL, a programme of additional monitoring and the preparation of a separate oceanographic programme. The results of these programmes together with those of the EIA study should create the basis for the ultimate solution regarding the submarine outfall design as well as for the project "Recovery of the Inner Bay". The recently held policy meeting (Split, March 1989) agreed upon the way of synchronizing all ongoing programmes, and on the creation of a unique national structure supervising the implementation of programme activities in the next biennium.

(c) The Syrian Coastal Region

This pilot projects has envisaged the preparation of the Preliminary Study to lead to the Integrated Plan of the entire Syrian coast and its immediate hinterland. Acting on the hypothesis that the roots of development and environmental problems of the coast lie in the entire coastal regional system and its functioning, the Study should provide a framework for the projection of the future development of the coastal region based on the environmentally sound management of its resources. Being problem-oriented, some of the Study's outputs will be immediately applicable. Furthermore, the Study will contain a detailed programme for the preparation of the Integrated Plan specially bearing upon the environmental dimension of the coastal development.

The following has been completed:

- collection of available information and on site reports;
- setting up and work (January-June 1988) of a Syrian-PAP team of planners, with participation of planners and experts from 5 Mediterranean countries;
- training of a Syria-PAP team of planners on the methodology of integrated planning;
- agreement reached on the cooperation of Med Pol and SPA in the preparation of the Preliminary Study, and the documents produced by the two Programmes;

(The completion of the Preliminary Study and the submission of draft report to the Syrian Government has been planned for the end of June 1989.)

(d) The Island of Rhodes

This project has been conceived as a joint effort of all the components of MAP. The principal objectives of the project is to establish the basis for integrated planning and management of the island of Rhodes. The first phase of the project envisages the analysis of sectorial problems which fall into activities of various MAP components. The involvement of PAP is expected in the fields of water resources, liquid and solid waste disposal, seismic risk reduction, rehabilitation of historic settlements, EIA, and integrated planning. The activities of PAP in the second phase, which would be carried out together with local and national experts and institutions, will be oriented towards the application of the integrated planning process.

The following has been completed:

- fact-finding mission on the state of problems in the field of (a) water resources management and disposal of waste water; and (b) protection of cultural heritage (June 1988);
- mission to acquire information necessary for the preparation of the study on water resources management;
- mission to Split of an expert from Rhodes dedicated to the historic heritage issues;
- mission on issues relative to waste water treatment plants and submarine outfalls in Rhodes;
- draft programme proposal for the Interim Study of the Integrated Plan for the island.

Other envisaged activities are being prepared but they will actually commence after the agreement of MEDU and the Greek Government has been reached.

9. Public information

- 1) In order to achieve greater efficiency and economy and a more prominent and consistent identity for MAP, the Bureau of the Contracting Parties decided at its meeting held in Athens, 14-15 March 1989, that all existing information bulletins published by MED Unit and the regional centres (ROCC, PAP,SPA), should be incorporated in a single publication of MEDWAVES to be issued in Arabic, English and French. During the period under consideration, MEDWAVES, (Information Bulletin of the Co-ordinating Unit) No. 13 and No. 14 were published and distributed in English and French. The last issue was devoted to the Blue Plan results.
- 2) Press releases and press coverage of MAP were issued on several occasions. The photo library and video cassettes library and catalogue were enlarged. Distribution of information materials in various languages has been carried out.
- 3) MAP Technical Reports Series No. 14,16,17,26,27,29 and 30 were issued (see full titles in Annex II).

B. Financial matters

1) Financial Matters

The second half of 1988 has been characterized by late payment of contributions that have delayed activities and created uncertainties for all programme components. As of 31 December 1988, \$ 2,156,559 had been paid into the Trust Fund, leaving an unpaid balance of \$ 3,635,774.

This far exceeds the estimate of \$600,000 in unpaid contributions included in the cash flow approved by the meeting of Contracting Parties (UNEP/IG.74/3, Annex VI) and shows that the recommendation made by previous meetings that contributions should be paid by 30 April of each year is not been followed.

The crisis has demonstrated an inherent weakness of the financing system of the Action Plan. Whereas activities are continuous and the established unit and centres require a continuity of funding, the flow of resources is unpredictable and no pattern has emerged over the years to guarantee the timely availability of funds.

It is important to recall that the procedures governing all United Nations Trust Fund do not easily accommodate themselves to this stop-go situation. Each new amount received needs to be processed through a complex project revision procedure for each of the seven projects through which the activities approved under the Mediterranean Action Plan are carried out. UNEP can only authorize those activities to be started for which full funding is available in the MTF and only to the extent of such availability. No cash advances are possible from any sources and no borrowing is allowed on contributions pledged by Governments. Non-availability of funds automatically results in non-renewal of contracts and stoppage of activities.

When considering the situation, the Bureau (Athens, 31 October 1988) did not accept the secretariat's proposal on the establishment of a small high-level Working Party, or Committee of Wise Men, to devise a solution to this inherent weakness in the MAP structure, ensuring that funds are available when required, i.e. not later than 30 April of each year and in the full amount pledged. Nevertheless, it urged all Contracting Parties to pay their contributions not later than the first quarter of each year.

The Bureau (Athens, 14-15 March 1989) again urged all Contracting Parties to pay their contributions not later than the first quarter of each year. It also recommended that any funds received in excess of the approved programme should constitute a reserve on which the secretariat would be able to draw for carrying out the approved programme. Any additional expenditure from such a reserve to deal with emergency situations would require the approval of the Bureau.

The status of contributions to the MTF as at 30 April 1989 is contained in Annex IV to this report.

2) Project approval procedure

In response to various requests from this office concerning the need for a simplified procedure for the approval of project revisions of a purely financial nature involving no change in project objectives or outputs, it was proposed by UNEP HQ that:

- the presently ongoing seven MED projects should be extended until 31 December 1989;
- by 1 September 1989, a new internal project, covering all MAP activities for the period 1 January 1990 31 December 1991, should be submitted by MEDU to the Headquarters for comments; disbursement of funds for activities to be handled by subsidiary units of MEDU (e.g. PAP/RAC, ROCC, SPA/RAC) or agencies (e.g. FAO, IAEA, WHO, WMO, IOC) should be accomplished by subprojects under the main project or by memoranda of understanding or subcontracts between MEDU and these units or agencies;
- in light of Headquarters' comments and the decisions of the forthcoming meeting of the Contracting Parties, the proposal should be revised by MEDU and should reach the Headquarters not later than 31 October 1989);
- the terminal reports, the final financial statements and evaluation fact sheets, together with final list of inventory of non-expendable equipment and recommendation for disposal (where applicable), of all presently ongoing MAP projects should be received at Headquarters by 1 March 1990, in order to allow the closing of those projects.

It is hoped that these arrangements will:

- strengthen the co-ordinating function of MAP by MEDU and its control over the implementation of MAP's programme and use of the available funds;
- simplify the administrative procedures of the Headquarters in approving and revising the project document supporting all MAP activities, and
- provide a higher degree of responsibility and flexibility for MEDU to manage the programme and funds relevant to MAP.

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/Inf.3 page 44

Annexes:

Annex I : Calendar of meetings as at 31 May 1989

Annex II : List of documents produced during 1988/1989

Annex III: Status of signatures and ratifications of the Convention and its related protocols as at 31

December 1988

Annex IV: Status of contributions to the Mediterranean Trust Fund (MTF) as at 30 April 1989

Annex V: 1988 budget (approved/expenditure)

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/Inf.3 Annex I page 1

ANNEX I

Calendar of Meetings as of 31 May 1989

Meeting	Date, place	Organizer & co-sponsor (co-sponsor in brackets). Project	Responsible officer. Travel marked with *	Report No.
<u>1989</u>				
Meeting of the XXII Interagency Advisory Committee (IAAC) for Med Pol	9-13 Jan. Athens	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-81-01	L.Jeftic F.S. Civili	UNEP(OCA)/ MED WG.7/3
Meeting of responsible officials from the 100 historic sites	19-21 Jan. Marseille	France (UNEP-MEDU) by PAP/RAC (PAP/RAC) ME/5102-83-05	A. Manos* A. Pavasovic*	to be issued by PAP/RAC
Review Meeting on the organophosphorous pilot survey	24-26 Jan. Barcelona	FAO (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-84-04	G. Gabrielides*	issued by FAO FIR/MEDPOL/ OP/5
Meeting of Director of Regional Activity Centres	20-21 Feb. Athens	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-75-01	A. Manos M. Batisse* A. Pavasovic* J.C. Sainlos*	No report
Working Group on Izmir Country pilot project	9-11 March Split	PAP/RAC (UNEP-MEDU)	A. Pavasovic I. Dharat*	issued by PAP/RAC
Working Group on Cartography of Soil Erosion	13-14 March Madrid	PAP/RAC ICONA-Spain ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic*	issued by PAP/RAC
Meeting of the Bureau of the Contracting Parties	14-15 March Athens	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-75-01	A. Manos L. Jeftic I. Dharat	UNEP/BUR/34/7
Working Group on Measurement of Rainfall Induced Erosion	16-17 March Madrid	PAP/RAC ICONA-Spain ME/5102-83-05	A.Pavasovic*	issued by PAP/RAC

Seeting (Date, place	Organizer & co-sponsor (co-sponsor in brackets). Project	Responsible officer. Travel marked with *	Report No.
Meeting of responsible investigators of national monitoring programmes	20-23 March Athens	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-84-04	L. Jeftic F.S. Civili	UNEP(OCA)MED, WG.5/3
UNEP/FAO/IOC/WHO meeting on the implications and control of undesirable plankton bloom	4-6 April Athens	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-84-04	L. Jeftic G. Gabrielides F.S. Civili	UNEP(OCA)/ MED.WG.4/2
Second Inter-agency (IAEA/ UNEP/WHO) Workshop on the Assessment and Management of Risk	17-21 April Athens	IAEA/UNEP/WHO	L. Jeftic J. Pasztor*	to be issued by IAEA
IMO/FAO/UNESO/WMO/WHO/ IAEA/UN/UNEP Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Pollution (GESAMP 19th session)	8-12 May Athens	OCA/PAC (UNEP-MEDU)	S. Keckes* L. Jeftic	to be issued by OCA/PAC
IOC-MAP/UNEP Med Pol Review Meeting on oceano- graphic processes of transfer and distribution of pollutants in the sea and development of future plans for this research component	15-18 May Zagreb	IOC/ (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-81-01	G. Kullenburg* L. Jeftic*	to be issued by IOC
Workshop on Combating Pollution of Mediterranean Sea by Harmful Substances	22-26 May Malta	ROCC (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-76-06	J.C. Sainlos I. Dharat*	to be issued by ROCC
Workshop on exchange of experience and methodology for environment/development prospective studies	22-26 May Sophia- Antipolis	BP/RAC (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-86-01	M. Batisse M. Grenon	to be issued by BP/RAC
Workshop on Environmental Planning and Management of Mediterranean Tourism	30-May - 1 June Split	PAP/RAC (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic	to be issued by PAP/RAC

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/Inf3 Annex I page 3

Meeting	Date, place	Organizer & co-sponsor (co-sponsor in brackets). Project	Responsible I officer. Travel marked with *	Report No.
World Bank Workshop on the Mediterranean	12-14 June Paris (Tent.)	World Bank (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-75-01	A. Manos*	to be issued by World Bank
Expert Meeting on Marine Vegetation	12-19 June Marseille	SPA/RAC (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-84-02	M. Hadj Ali*	to be issued by SPA/RAC
Consolidation Meeting on Gode of Practice for Re-use Municipal Waste Waters	15-16 June Split	PAP/RAC (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic	to be issued by PAP/RAC
Consultation Meeting on Effluents Requiring Separate Treatment	22–24 June Athens	WHO (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-81-01	L.J. Saliba	to be issued by WHO
Joint Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Committee and the Socio-Economic Committee	26-30 June Athens	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-75-01 ME/5102-84-04	A. Manos L. Jeftic I. Dharat	to be issued by MEDU
Consultation Meeting on marine Outfall Structures in the Mediterranean	3-5 July Madrid	WHO (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-81-01	L.J. Saliba*	to be issued by WHO
Experts Meeting on the Conservation of Mediterra- .nean Marine Turtles	4-6 July Nicosia (Cyprus)	SPA/RAC-IUCN (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-84-02	Hadj Ali* I. Dharat* Alain de Grissac*	to be issued by SPA/RAC
Workshop on Solid and Liquid Waste and Management Codes of Practice	18-20 Sept. Split	PAP/RAC (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic	to be issued by PAP/RAC
Meeting of Experts on Off-shore Protocol	Sept. Athens (Tent.)	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-75-01	A. Manos I. Dharat	to be issued

Meeting	Date, place	Organizer & co-sponsor (co-sponsor in brackets). Project	Responsible officer. Travel marked with *	Report No.
Meeting of the Bureau of the Contracting Parties	2nd Oct. Athens	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-75-01	A. Manos L. Jeftic I. Dharat	UNEP/BUR/35/
Sixth Ordinary Meeting of the Constracting Parties to the Convention for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea against Pollution and its related protocols	3-6 Oct. Athens	UNEP-MEDU ME/5102-75-01	A. Manos	to be issued by MEDU
Training Course on Practical Application of Renewable Energy Sources in the Region (to French speaking countries	9-19 October Madrid (Tent.)	PAP/RAC (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-83-05	Pavasovic*	to be issued by PAP/RAC
Expert Meeting on Remote Sensing	11-13 October Montpellier France	Commission Interministé- rielle des Comptes du Patrimoine Naturel, Franc (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-75-01	A. Manos*	to be issued by France
Workshop on Code of Practice of Re-use of Municipal Wastewater	16-18 Oct. Cyprus (Tent.)	PAP/RAC National Authorities ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic*	to be issued by PAP/RAC
Training course and Inter- calibration exercise on microbiological methods	16-21 Oct. Tunis	WHO (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-81-01	L.J. Saliba*	to be issued by WHO
Workshop on Evaluation of Historic Settlements	30 Oct 1 Nov. Cairo	PAP/RAC EEAA (Egypt) ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic*	to be issued by PAP/RAC

Meeting	Date, place	Organizer & co-sponsor (co-sponsor in brackets). Project	Responsible officer. Travel marked with *	Report No.
Consultation Meeting on Programmes and Measures against land-based pollution in the Mediterranean	5-9 Nov. Alexandria	WHO (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-81-01	L.J. Saliba*	to be issued by WHO
Workshop on Cartography of Soil Erosion in the Mediterranean Region	7-9 Nov. Malaga	PAP/RAC ICONA ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic*	to be issued by PAP/RAC
Iter-regional Workshop on the Environ- mental Impact Assessment Procedure	19-23 Nov. Cairo	PAP/RAC OCA/PAC (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic* L. Jeftic*	to be issued by PAP/RAC
Consultation Meeting on Microbiological Pollution in the Mediterranean	28 Nov2 Dec. Athens	WHO (UNEP-MEDU) ME/5102-81-01	L.J. Saliba	to be issued by WHO
Workshop on Measurements Rainfall Induced Soil Erosion in the Mewditerranean Region	5-7 Dec. Malaga	PAP/RAC ICONA ME/5102-83-05	A. Pavasovic*	to be issued by PAP/RAC

ANNEX II page 1

ANNEX II

LIST OF DOCUMENTS PRODUCED DURING 1988/1989

I. MED UNIT (Athens)

UNEP/BUR/34/7

MED UNIT (Athens)	
UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.1/12	Report of the First Meeting of the Scientific and Technical Committee (Athens, 23-27 May 1988)
UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.2/7	Report of the First Meeting of the Socio-Economic Committee (Athens, 27-29 September 1988)
UNEP/IG.74/5/and Corr.1	Report of the Fifth Ordinary Meeting of the Contracting Parties (Athens, 7-11 September 1987)
UNEP/BUR/31	Report of the Meeting of the Bureau of the Contracting Parties (Athens, 18 February 1988)
UNEP/BUR/32/4	Report of the Meeting of the Bureau (Athens, 31 October 1988)
UNEP/BUR/33/5	Composition of the Bureau of the Contracting Parties
UNEP/BUR/33/6	Report of the Meeting of the Expanded Bureau (Athens, 1-2 November 1988)
UNEP/BUR/33/Inf.3	Evaluation of project ME/5102-84-02 Support to Regional Activity Centre for Specially Protected Areas (RAC/SPA)
UNEP/BUR/34/3	Progress Report by the Co-ordinator
UNEP/BUR/34/4	Preliminary ideas of the Executive Director on the Refocusing of the Mediterranean Action Plan on Environmentally Sound Integrated Planning and Management of the Mediterranean Basin (Revised Version)
UNEP/BUR/34/5	Integrated planning of the Development and Management of the Resources of the Mediterranean Basin (the MAP pilot projects)
UNEP/BUR/34/6	1990-1991 proposed programme and budget presentation by objectives

Report of the Meeting of the Bureau (Athens, 14-15 March 1989)

4	MED	POL

Report of the Ad Hoc Meeting for the UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.6/1

Preparation of the Annex IV of Land-Based Sources Protocol to the Barcelona Convention

(Athens, 19-21 December 1988)

Report of the FAO/UNEP/IAEA/WHO Review Meeting FIR/MEDPOL/OT/5

on the Organotin Pilot Survey (Erdemli, Turkey,

7-9 November 1988)

Report of the FAO/UNEP/IAEA/WHO Review Meeting FIR/MEDPOL/OP/5

> on the Organophosphorus Pilot Survey (Barcelona, Spain, 24-26 January 1989

Consultation on Carcinogenic and Mutagenic EUR/ICP/CEH 060(S)

Marine Pollutants in the Mediterranean

(WHO/FAO/UNEP Joint Project. MED POL Phase II)

(Athens, 23-25 June 1988)

Assessment of the state of pollution of the UNEP/WG.160/9

Mediterranean Sea by cadmium and cadmium

compounds and proposed measures

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.1/7 Assessment of organotin compounds as marine

pollutants and proposed measures for the

Mediterranean

FIR/MEDPOL/TOX/8 Report of the FAO/UNEP Consultation Meeting on

> the Toxicity of Selected Substances to Marine Organisms (Villefranche-sur-mer, France, 10-14 October 1988) (Organized within the framework

of the MED POL - Phase II programme)

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.5/3 Report of the Meeting of Responsible

Investigators of Monitoring Programmes (Athens,

20-23 March 1989)

Training Course and Intercalibration Exercise EUR/ICP/CEH 061(S) on Microbiological Methodology (WHO/UNEP Joint

Project, MED POL Phase II) (Athens, 9-14 May

1988)

Report of the UNEP/FAO/IOC/WHO Meeting on the UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.4/2

Implications and Control of Undesirable Plankton Blooms (Athens, 4-6 April 1989)

FAO Fisheries Report No. 352 Report of the FAO/UNEP Meeting on the Effects

of Pollution on Marine Ecosystems (Blanes,

Spain, 7-11 October 1985)

FIR/MEDPOL/TW/3 Report on the Training Workshop on the Statistical Treatment and Interpretation of

Marine Community Data (Piran, Yugoslavia, 14-24 June 1988), Organised in the framework of the Long-term Programme for Pollution Monitoring

and Research in the Mediterranean (MED POL -

Phase II)

CIESM,	1989
--------	------

Rapports et Procès-verbaux des Réunions. Volume 31. XXXI Congrès-Assemblée Plénière (Athènes, 17-22 octobre 1988)

UNEP/IAAC-XXI/2

Report of the XXIst Meeting of the Inter-Agency Advisory Committee (IAAC) for MED POL (Athens, 13-15 January 1988

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.7/3

Report of XXII IAAC Meeting of the Inter-Agency Advisory Committee (IAAC) for MED POL (Athens, 9-12 January 1989)

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.5/Inf.3

Evaluation of MED POL - Phase I Monitoring Data Part I - Sources of Pollution

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.5/Inf.4

Evaluation of MED POL - Phase II Monitoring Data Part II - Micro-organisms in coastal areas

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.5/Inf.5

Evaluation of MED POL - Phase II Monitoring Data Part III - Heavy metals in coastal and reference areas

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.5/Inf.6

Evaluation of MED POL - Phase II Monitoring Data Part IV - Petroleum and chlorinated hydrocarbons in coastal and reference areas

UNEP(OCA)/WG.2/25

Report of the Joint Meeting of the Task Team on Implications of Climatic Changes in the Mediterranean and the Co-ordinators of Task Teams for the Caribbean, South-East Pacific, South Pacific, East Asian Seas and South Asian Seas Regions (Split, 3-8 October 1988)

UNEP Regional Seas Reports and Studies No.103

Implications of expected climate changes in the Mediterranean region: an overview

UNEP, 1989

Report on the Seminar on Implications of Climatic Changes in the Nile Delta (Cairo, 27-28 December 1988)

MAP Technical Report Series No. 19 Assessment of the state of pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by petroleum hydrocarbons

MAP Technical Report Series No. 20

Epidemiological studies related to Environmental Quality Criteria for bathing waters, shellfish-growing waters and edible marine organisms (Activity D). Final report on project on relaltionship between microbial quality of coastal seawater and health effects (1983-86) UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/Inf.3 Annex II page 4

MAP Technical F Series No. 21	Report	Eutrophication in the Mediteprranean Sea: Receiving Capacity and Monitoring of Long-Term Effects
MAP Technical F Series No. 22	Report	Study of ecosystem modifications in areas influenced by pollutants (Activity I)
MAP Technical F Series No. 23	Report	National Monitoring Programme of Yugoslavia, Report for 1983-1986
MAP Technical F Series No. 24	Report	Toxicity, persistence and bioaccumulation of selected substances to marine organisms (Activity G)
MAP Technical F Series No. 27	Report	Implications of expected climate changes in the Mediterranean Region: an overview
MAP Technical F Series No. 28	Report	State of the Mediterranean Marine Environment

II. Regional Oil Combating Centre (ROCC) (Malta)

Report of the general training course in marine pollution combating (MEDIPOL 88), Malta, 8-18 March 1988

Report of the training course on marine pollution combating (INFOPOL 88), Paris Brest and Marseilles, 2-17 June 1988

Report of the practical training course on containment and recovery techniques at sea (MEDEXPOL 88), Ercolano (Italy), 28 Sept. - 4 Oct. 1988

Directory of the Mediterranean region of participants to marine pollution combating training course (April 1988)

Concise Dictionary of marine anti-pollution terms (June 1988)

Inventory of "Experts in Marine Pollution Combating" (September 1988)

ROCC INF. 20 (Jan.88), 21 (June 88), 22 (Oct. 88)

"Catalogue of Spill Response Equipment and Products" (March 1989)

Report of the Alert Exercise 1989(ALERTEX 89)-Malta, 6-10 March 1989

List of alerts and accidents in the Mediterranean (January 1989)

"Guide for Combating Accidental Marine Pollution in the Mediterranean Sea" (May 1989)

ROCC/WG.1/5 Report of the Workshop on combating accidental

pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by harmful

substances, Malta, 22-26 May 1989

ROCC/WG.1/3 Introduction to the programme and lectures

concerning the problems related to maritime transportation of harmful substances and

accidental spillages

III. Blue Plan Regional Activity Centre (BP/RAC) (Sophia Antipolis)

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.2/Inf.4 Meeting of the Steering Committee of the Blue Plan (Sophia Antipolis, 21-22 June 1988)

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.2/Inf.5 Futures of the Mediterranean Basin (Environment and Development 2000-2025)

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.2/Inf.6 Futures of the Mediterranean Basin "Executive Summary and Suggestions for Action"

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.2/Inf.7 Report on the transfer of Blue Plan data base (English only)

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG/2/3 Progress report on the implementation of the Blue Plan during 1987/1988 and proposed activities and budgetary requirements for 1989

Report of the Workshop on scenarios experience and methodology

(Sophia Antipolis, 22-26 May 1989)

IV. <u>Priority Actions Programme/Regional Activity Centre (PAP/RAC) (Split)</u>

WATER RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT FOR MEDITERRANEAN ISLANDS AND ISOLATED COASTAL AREAS

GESTION DES RESSOURCES EN EAU DANS LES ILES ET LES ZONES COTIERES ISOLEES

1. PAP-3/EM.2/1 Notes of the expert meeting for the preparation of the code of practice for municipal wastewater reuse for irrigation in the Mediterranean region (Split, 14-15 November 1988)

INTEGRATED PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT OF MEDITERRANEAN COASTAL ZONES

PLANIFICATION INTEGREE ET GESTION DES ZONES COTIERES MEDITERRANEENNES

1.	PAP-4/EM.4/1	Notes of the	he cons	solidation	meeting	for the
		preparation	of	the common	n methodo	ological
		framework		_	~	~
		management	process	s in Medi	terranean	coastal
		areas (Spli	t, 15-16	5 April 1988	3)	

- 2. PAP-4/EM.5/1 Report of the expert meeting on the common methodological framework for integrated Planning and Management Process in Mediterranean coastal areas (Izmir, 29 June-1 July 1988) in English and French
- 3. PAP-4/MD.1 A common methodological framework for integrated planning and management in Mediterranean coastal areas (Draft) in English and French

REHABILITATION AND RECONSTRUCTION OF MEDITERRANEAN HISTORIC SETTLEMENTS

REHABILITATION ET RECONSTRUCTION DES ETABLISSEMENTS HISTORIQUES MEDITERRANEENS

1. PAP-5/W.2/1 Report of the workshop on the methodology of studying and presenting the spatial development of historic buildings and towns (Genoa, 25-27 May 1988) - in English and French

2. 1ère rencontre internationale des responsables des sites historiques méditerranéens (Marseille, 19-21 janvier 1989)

SOLID AND LIQUID WASTE MANAGEMENT

GESTION DES DECHETS SOLIDES ET LIQUIDES

1. PAP-7/TC.1 Report of the training course on sewage treatment plants management and maintenance in the Mediterranean conditions (Sophia Antipolis, 5-12 December 1988)

2. PAP-7/Em.6/1 Notes sur la réunion conjointe PAP/CAR-CEFIGRE sur la coopération en matière de formation dans les domaines de l'assainissement et de la réutilisation des eaux usées (Split, 6-7 mars 1989)

PROMOTION OF SOIL PROTECTION AS AN ESSENTIAL COMPONENT OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION IN THE MEDITERRANEAN COASTAL ZONES

PROMOTION DE LA PROTECTION DES SOLS EN TANT QUE COMPOSANTE ESSENTIELLE DE LA PROTECTION DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT DES ZONES COTIERES MEDITERRANEENNES

1. PAP-8/W.1/1 Report of the workshop on the state of rainfall erosion in the Mediterranean region (Murcia, 23-25 November 1988) - in English and French

2. PAP-8/WG.1/1 Report of the meeting of the working group on erosion mapping (Madrid, 13-14 March 1989)

3. PAP-8/WG.2/1 Report of the meeting of the working group on erosion measuring (Madrid, 16-17 March 1989)

DEVELOPMENT OF MEDITERRANEAN TOURISM IN HARMONY WITH THE ENVIRONMENT

DEVELOPPEMENT DU TOURISME MEDITERRANEEN EN HARMONIE AVEC L'ENVIRONNEMENT

1. PAP-9/Em.2/1 Notes of the expert meeting for the preparation of draft guidelines for an environmental approach to the planning and management of tourism development in the Mediterranean coastal zones (Split, 22-23 February 1988) - in English and French

RENEWABLE SOURCES OF ENERGY

SOURCES D'ENERGIE RENOUVELABLES

1. PAP-11/TC.1/1 Report of the training course on practical application of renewable sources of energy in the Mediterranean region (Almeria, 21 November - 1 December 1988) - in English and French

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)

EVALUATION DE L'IMPACT SUR L'ENVIRONNEMENT (EIA)

1. PAP-12/EM.4/1 Report of the review meeting on environmental impact assessment procedure (Nicosia, 24-27 October 1988)

PAP PILOT PROJECTS IN THE MEDITERRANEAN COUNTRIES (CPP) (Documentation subject to Government clearance)

PROJETS PILOTES DU PAP DANS LE BASIN MEDITERRANEEN (CPP) (Documentation subordonnée à l'approbation des gouvernements)

TURKEY: THE BAY OF IZMIR

1.	CPP/88-89/TR/EM.2	Notes of the meeting to review proposals for	r
		the contribution of PAP and MEDPOL in th	е
		rehabilitation programme of the Izmir Ba	У
		(Split, 30 March - 1 April 1988)	

- 2. CPP/88-89/TR Environmental management and recovery of the Izmir Bay: Approaches and proposals (by T. Balkas, U. Marinov, J. Margeta, P. Nival)
- 3. CPP/88-89/TR Fact-Finding mission to assess the state of pollution of the Izmir Bay: A set of mission reports
- 4. Proposal relative to the organization of a preliminary study of the integrated plan of the Izmir area (by I. Tutum, Izmir Municipality)
- 5. CPP/88-89/TR/EM.3 Report of the policy meeting on the environmental management of the area of Izmir (Split, 9-11 March 1989)
- 6. CPP/88-89/TR.Rep.1 Rehabilitation and protection of the Bay of Izmir

UNEP(OCA)/MED WG.3/Inf.3 Annex II page 10

- 7. CPP/88-89/TR.Rep.2 Rehabilitation and protection of the Bay of Izmir activities of PAP in 1989
- 8. CPP/88-89/TR Environmental impact assessment of the Izmir sewage treatment project (by A. Pano, M. Libhaber and U. Marinov)

SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC: THE SYRIAN COASTAL REGION

- 1. CPP/88-89/SY.1 Notes of the <u>Ad hoc</u> meeting to draft the programme for the preparation of the preliminary study of the integrated plan of the Syrian coastal region (Split, 1-3 February 1988)
- 2. CPP/88-89/SY Preliminary study of the integrated plan of the Syrian coastal region (programme proposal)
- 3. Basic information on socio-economic conditions of the coastal region of Syrian Arab Republic, and proposal relative to the organization of the preliminary study of the integrated plan of the region (by Z. Jouejati)
- 4. CPP/88-89/SY.2 Report of the meeting of the working team on the methodology of preparing the preliminary study of the integrated plan of the Syrian coastal region (Split, 10-19 October 1988)
- 5. CPP/88-89/SY.Rep.1 Report on PAP activities in the pilot project "Syrian Coastal Region" in 1988

YUGOSLAVIA: MANAGEMENT OF THE NATURAL RESOURCES OF THE KASTELA BAY

- 1. CPP/88-89/YU/Doc.1 Environmental capacity of the Kastela Bay-General methodology and plan of analysis
- 2. Ecological criteria for the rational planning and development of aquaculture in the Kastela Bay Marine (Synthesis)
- 3. CPP/88-89/YU/Doc.2 The natural characteristics of the sea water in the Kastela Bay and the impacts of the waste waters (by M. Gacic, A. Baric, N., Krstulovic, T. Pucher-Petkovic, D. Regner, M. Tudor)

GREECE: THE ISLAND OF RHODES

1.	On-site report:	The island	of	Rhodes	(by G.
	Dellas)				

- 2. Pilot project for the integrated planning and management of the coastal area of Rhodes (City of Rhodes Public Relations Office and City of Rhodes Conservation Bureau)
- 3. CPP/88-89/GR/Rep.1 Report on PAP activities in the MAP pilot project "The island of Rhodes" in 1988
- 4. Report of the fact-finding mission on the water resources of the Island of Rhodes (by I. Iacovides)
- 5. Report of the mission to Rhodes relative to the management of water resources and solid and liquid wastes of the island (by S. Tedeschi)
- 6. Mission report to Rhodes relative to the problems of protection and reconstruction of the historic core of Rhodes (by J. Marasovic)
- 7. Report of the Mission to Rhodes relative to the treatment plant and marine outfall of the City of Rhodes (by S. Tedeschi)

ALGERIA: WILAYA DE TLEMCEN

1. Rapport sur la Wilaya de Tlemcen (par R. Hamza)

EGYPT: THE FOUKA AREA

1. Integrated planning and management of Fouka Area (by E. Eid)

TUNISIA: LA ZONE DE SFAX

1. Etude de la zone de Sfax (A. Suissi)

MAROC: PLAN INTEGREE DE LA ZONE D'AL HOCEIMA

- 1. Proposition relative à la méthodologie et à l'organisation de l'élaboration d'une étude du dévéloppement intégré du littoral méditerranéen du Maroc (par S. Truta, PAP/CAR)
- 2. Etude de développement intégré du littoral méditerranéen du Maroc: Cas de la zone centrale (Direction de l'urbanisme, de l'aménagement du territoire et de l'environnement)

V. Specially Protected Areas/Regional Activity Centre (SPA/RAC) - Tunis

- Guidelines for the selection, creation and management of marine and coastal Mediterranean areas. Second edition September 1988.
- Directory of Marine and Coastal Protected Areas in the Mediterranean Region: Areas of Ecological and Biological Value. Publication prepared in the English version by UNEP, Athens (April 1989); MAP Technical Report Series No. 26. Translation into French being prepared by SPA Centre (May 1989).
- SPA News. The Centre Bulletin comes out every 6 months; No. 2 in July 1988, No. 3 in December 1988, No. 4 in July 1989, No. 5 in December 1989. From No. 3 onwards, the Bulletin is published in French, English and Arabic.
- Red Book on endangered marine plants in the Mediterranean. First provisional version, Sept. 1988, Second provisional version, May 1989 and final version in November December 1989.
- Computerized data bank on national legislation concerning marine and coastal environment of the Mediterranean countries. The first version containing 175 texts came out in December 1988.
- Directory of Mediterranean sites proposed for protection. Document drafted on the basis of expert meetings on the selection of sites, on the data available at the Centre and on the national proposals concerning areas to be protected.
- List of experts, institutes and Centres active in Mediterranean underwater archaeology. Methodological guides for underwater archaeological field activities. National legislation from the various countries covering such activities.
- RAC/SPA UNEP/MEDU WG.1/3 Report on the status of the Mediterranean Marine Turtles
- RAC/SPA UNEP/MEDU WG.1/4 Draft Action Plan for the Conservation of the Mediterranean Marine Turtles

ANNEX III

STATUS OF SIGNATURES AND RATIFICATIONS OF THE CONVENTION FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE MEDITERRANEAN SEA AGAINST POLLUTION AND 1TS RELATED PROTOCOLS Status as at 31 December 1998

	Conve	Convention(1)	<u>Omping(2)</u>	(Energency(3)	3)	Land-Basec	Land-Based Sources(4)	Specially Protected Areas(5)	acted Areas(5)
	Signature	Ratification	Signature	Ratification	Signature	Ratification	Signature	Ratification	Signature	Ratification
Albania	1	1	į	;	1	1	ı	ı	J	i
Algeria	1	Ð	ı	重	1	Aar	1	¥	ł	3
Cyprus	Ð	₫	B	<u>≩</u>	9	2	17 May 80	2	;	},
ESTA	Ð	Ag	g	Aug	9			18 May 83/AC	16 Feb	2 E E
France	B	è	逐	Ē	Ð	ž,		,	\ \frac{2}{3}	į
Greece	B	Ŕ	B	18	9	Ę	<u>}</u>	3,5	\$ \$	<u>ק</u>
Israel	Ð	Ā	Ð	和	9		} <u>≩</u>	1		ţ
Italy	Ð	B	Ð	Ð	B		1	4 31 85		3 =
Lebarron	æ	₫	Ð	₫	B	Ş	} £	,	}	3 1
Libya	31 Jan 77	31 Jan 73	31 Jan 77	31 Jan 73	31 Jan 77	31 Jan 73	17 May 80	1	1	1
Maita	Ð	æ	Ð	æ	B	ä	Ì.€	1		25 oct. 11
Monaco	B	B	Ð	R	B	3	Ì	2	\$	3 1
Proces	B	Ę	Ð	둳	Ð	S	À	6 G	2 to 2	
Spain	Ð	æ	Ð	æ	B	B	Ì	2	<u> </u>	2 Per 97
Syria	1	ä	1	æ	}	Ä	? 1	1	}	3
Tunisia	25 Hay 76	Ę	-	7	À	1	17 May 90		2 Apr 89	٤
Turkey	Ð	ş	B	Ş	1	Ş	?	2 E		8 8 8
Mgoslavia	Ħ	Ŋ	R	. S	8	8	ł		1	3
田	Ħ	Ā		Far	13 Sep 76	And	17 May 80	7 0+ 83/40	3	8 % 3 % 3 %
				•	+		?		ā	3

1- Convention for the protection of the Maditerranean sea against pollution

Adopted (Barcelona):

Entry into force: 12 February 1978

The Protocol for the prevention of pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by dumping from ships and aircraft
Adopted (Barcelona): 16 February 1976 ď

Entry into force: 12 February 1978

The Protocol concerning co-operation in combating pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by oil and other harmful substances in cases of emergency Adopted (Barcelona): 16 February 1976

Entry into force: 12 February 1978 상

17 May 1980 Adopted (Athens): 4

The Protocol concerning Mediterranean Specially Protected Areas Adopted (Geneva): 3 April 1962
Entry into force: 23 March 1996 17 June 1983 ጥ

Entry into force:

'' 주 주 Accession

Approval